June 1, 1942

At the house managers' meeting Estabrook said thet only a smmll resident
patrol would be used because the major disapproved. He said that the redikdents
shduld demonstrate their willingness to cooperate by abiding by rules. He
said some sort of law end order was necessary. He said he realized thet the
people have epprehansions aboult Caucasiens on the beet but said he could use
Japanese only for quaranteen officers and gulides. He said hies rules and regu-
letions had not yet been approved by the Army. He reve hled that curfew was
in the list of regulations but was still pending and said that Tanforen weas
the only camp without curfew.

The maintenance crew man complained that there were 42 carpenters in camp
working under some other division. le said fixing roofs was the mejor problem
and that he wanted more men.
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He said the facilities were inadequate and said the extiénguishers should wiways
be full.

Asghole Tekehashi emnounced that the advisory couneil was asking the ad-
ministration to allow a counsil member to attend all administrative staff meetings;
to defined what the WCCA meant by self-government, and to ask for the minutes
of all administration meetings. “Other cemps have it." was Henry's statement.
Ogawa read the letter that DeWitt had sent to Tolan concerning civil rights
and self-government and asked that tha WCCA toe the makk. Yamashita suggested
that house managers ought to be elected if there is to be democracy. DeWitt's
letter says that every 300 people would have a representive. Yamashita said
that the house menagers had become a body for airing complaints and had therefore
become the 'pulee of the people' and therefore much like a legislative body.
Speares said the house managers would have to serve as is until the elections
take place.

The medieal representative said that the medical staff was mad because
Woefflen and Greene had refused to cooperate. The Doctors were resigning
because they were working like heck and never getting anywhere because they
got nothing but promises end no supplies. He said that they were all asking
for transfers to other senters. Hfftano got up and started maoning. He said
he went in the "hospital" and sgw babies in wooden boxes resembling coffins
and lousy dental chairs. He said "We have a right to demand. We are citizens."
He said that a baby had died over the week end. The child was jusi born and

. needed an oxygen tent, but it took mo long getting through the red tape to get
out of the center that the c¢hild died while they were looking for a driver.
He said the doctors were of the opinion that the child could have been saved,
for contrary to the WCCA report, the child was borm alive. It took 3 hours to
get him out. He said 43 more babies were coming in June esnd betterfacilities
should be set up.

The representative from the hospital complained that there were mo parti-
tions and no telephones in the hospitel. Hirano demanded that in the W.R.A.
centers there be no repetition of these horrible conditioms. He said that the
house mamagers ought to write to the W.R.A. officians and get Mr. Friar in
to speak to the Town Hall end prepare questions to ask him about the new centers.




He said it was too late to improve conditions emyway since the WCCA officials
were so damn bull headed anyway. Speares sat through this long barrage mery
uncomfortably and said nothing.

Just then Ichi Imamura rushedinto the room with a blue face. He said that
he had sjust received a notice from a druggist in Berkeley saying that a bottle
had been brought into the camp by a friend in Berkeley yesterday labelled "boric
agid" which was full of deadly poison. The dwuggiet only knew that the persom
had purchased it in Berkeley for "someone in Tanforsm“., The house menagers were
immediately in panie and ran out at once without bothering to listen to Hiramo
any wore. Hirano was one of the first men rumning out to see whether the poison
could be located before it was used.

I ran back with four of the house menagers of the nearby houses. I went
from house to house asking if they had received "hosan" yesterday but everyone
was surprised., When they heard the story they all helped me and went ahead to
ask other people that I had not yet reached. No one in my house. Thank god.

I went inside to work on my peper and found out that the lights were out.
_ I had to go from door to door sgain to find out who in the hell blew out the
use. The elecirichan came over and said the transformer was out temporarily.

After lunch some carpenters came over to fix hinges on to the windows.
I couldn't see much senseé in it since it was so demn windy anyway. I worked
like hell on my paper for the rest of the day.

After supper I worked umntil thepeople started to go to bed.




June 2, 1942

I got up at 10 and rushed to the grandstand. Dr. Thomas, W.I. Thomas,
Virginia and Morton came along. She said that we would be going to Tulelake
goon-~maybe tomorrow and told us to be prepared to go any time.

It was windy as hell. After lunch I got some letters from Barry and from
pope Tomi went out and did the wash. I went out to look for Charlie, Fred,
Doris, Tally and Ben to tell them to come around to talk over the study.

Since the dinmer hour was late I typed out some outlines for them.
Doris, Charlie, Fred, Tally, and Ben then csme over and I explained to them
the objectives of the study and all of them said they would be ghkad to contri=-
bute whatever they could.

After the conferencey; Tally said that Hiramo had gotien hell from Estabrook
and had been put om the blacklist for agitators. Tally said that Estabrook had
taken Jimmy askde and had told him to shut up or face the consequences. After
they all left this one thing stayed in my mind. What is the etatus of the
Nisei? Sinece we were evacuated we have been looked down upom by the Caucasiensd
I wondered what would heppen after the war. I wonder if I was just scared be-
cause I knew I was at the mercy of some dirty Caucasian politicians,
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June 3, 1942

I slept all morning. ©Sue came over and said that Mrs. Honda was being
repatriated to Japan. I ® uldn't go over to learn the details but I tried to
get a copy of the State Department letter or wire to herg-without success.

I resigned my job as house menager and broke in lir. Kanehara into the
duties of a house manager.

After lunch I noticed that army men were inspecting the hospital. I saw
Dr. Togesaki raising holy hell with one of the men. I wrote a letter to Dr.
Thomes and then went over to see lMrs. Honda. She said she was glad she was
finally going and was crying all the time.

I came home and Tomi gave e haricut., I worked on my paper until supper.

I moderated at the Town Hall meeting on "What Should the Attitude of the
Nisei Be?" and tossed a lot of bull. After the meeting, Tomi and I were invited
over to Jimmy Hirano's place to telk over eivil liberties. Hirano seid that
the WCCA was fescist just like all the other Americemns. He said he could see
no future in America if this is the way people are going to be treated. He
said that young fellows with ability ought to go to Japan or Asia. We all
moaned about the JACL and the flimsy policies until 11:30.




June 4, 1942

I got up at 10145 and wrote a long letter to professor Aikin about the
blacklisting of people in this camp and asking him what could be done about it.
I then went over to housing headquarters and saw Hireno and Ogawa. I could
tell by the way they shut up whenm Takahashi came around that they suspected
Henry of kise-assing the administration end squealing on Jimmy because of his
openly anti-JACL feelings. Jimmy said, "Hemry's & nice guy but he's too ambi~
tious. He'll do amything to get shead. He'll sell his best friend down the
river. All the Takahashis are that way."

After lunch I got ready to go over to see Tally who was sick. A messenger
ceme to say that Blaisdell was here and wanted to see me. We talked about
educetion with him until Korematsu came dashing along to talk to him about his
demn coops. Blaisdell was very cordial,

I weni over to the cantesn but they were selling nothings I then went
over to see Tally. He was laid up with a typhoid shot or something. We bulled
until supper.

I'workod on my paper until late and then had some sandwidches. I resd
the Classics book for a while before turming in.




June 5, 1942

We are still waiting for our moving orders to Tule Lake,.

I got up at 9 and started workingon my paper. I am gettint tired amd
bored with this work, but plugged on until I got worll that Dr. Thomas had
phoned and said that she would be around at 2. I expected that maybe
the transfer was coming and worked only my paper more merrily.

Dre. Thomas told us that we ought to expect our transfer soon because
everything had been cleared up. I went home and typed until supper.

After supper I had a sad spebl for a while because I thought about the
post-war world and it made me very demoralized. I worked on the paper until
8 end then went to housing headquarters to meet with the study group. I
found there a pleasant surprise.

I acoidentally walked into a meeting being led by Hemry Takshashi on the
plans for the W.R.A. The so-called leaders were hashing things over under his
leadership. I started to leave when Hirano and Ogawa asked me to stay over
Tekahashi's protest, so just to get him down I parked. They were talking about
demands that they were going to make on the government. They were going teo
ask for (1) a center with a favorable climate, (2) e non-agricultural center,
and (3) that everyone in the center be moved ms a body. They were working on
a questiomnaire that they were going to pass around to collect data to show to
the government that Tanform people were chiefly urban peoples. As if anybody
didn't know that already. There were fifteen people there besides a secrehary.
Most of them were house managers and councilmen.

I then went to the main mess hall and saw the five people bulling. Freddie
had already started orgenizing the work and the five were irying to decide who
was going to cover what.

I went home and worked on my paper until 10. When I tried to get the
Richfield reporter I discovered that all coast radio stations were off, I
guess there was an sir-raid alarm.




June 64 1942

We are still waiting for moving orders. Tomi wae up early to pack and
eat breekfmst., GShe sald she wanted to make breakfast just once so that she
can say that she had had the experience in Tanforam.

Pete and Sat cume over and we bulled for a while. I weni over to the
housing office to get a copy of DeWilt's ledter to Tolan and got it. I
then went to the P,0, end cleared up the matter of change of address and
that a package of supplies addressed to me from Cal was to be delivered to
Freddie.

VWhen I got home I found a note from Tally and rushed back to the grand=-
stand to look for him. Hirano was yelling out there. He sald that the acco-
mnodetion under the Army were 0.,K., but that under the W.ReA. there would be
no priorities. He was really worried about it.

Right after lunch I went on a ppurt and finished my report on Tanforan.
It was really a relief to get at least that out of the wey before being
transferred to do more work. I thought that I had loafed too much in here and
that I'd have to get off the dime when I got to Tulelake.

Mine was worried about more bachelors coming ine.

After supper I looked over the paper amd read about a great U.S. navil
victory in Midway. It sounded good.

Tally end Nej came in to see what we wanted in the survey. Naj said that
since he was drawing up the schedule he could include amything that Dr. Thomas
wanted. We got together and decided to put in the standard stuff since nothing
else occurred to any of us. Ve talked ebout all kinds of thinge end had some
salemi and crackers end salad.




June 7, 1942

I was awakened at 103145 by Naj. He said he was too late for me to be in
bed and he wanted to know when he should pack and be ready to go. I went over
to teke a shower and really cleaned up. Washed my hair, shaved and changed my
clothes and was all set for the move.

I watched the kide playing ball in the yard in fromt of the house, They
were about 5 to 8 years of age and I noticed that all of them had a pretty
good command of English slang.

I read the paper and then went to lunch. We had butter for the first time
eince coming here.

I wae watching some kids making boats when lir. Kenehara came by and seid
that there were big sumo matches going on near barrack 4 and 5, I went down
there with Tomi and fournd e big crowd watiching some huskies who were nearly
neked grunting on the ground. I noted that the old rituals were still being
preserved. g

We waiched the baseball games. Both men and women were playing in ihe
center of the field. It was windy as hell so we went into the library. There
were more books available mow from the San Mateo library eamnd from Wills Col~
lege. I read several interesting and damning articles in the "Argonat" on
the status of the Nisei. Argonsut wes a queer msgazine, It is published in
SeFe By reading the articles I couldn't figure out what ite political lsaninge
vwere. They had a big pieture of bastard DeWitt.

Now that the paper was over with, now that I didn't have to work as house
menager I felt more like teking things easy and loafing. I read Time for a
while and caught up with the world news, We went to bed early hoping for a
permit to go tomorrow. We are all packed and ready to go.




June 8, 1942

We are still waiting for the moving orders. There ie nothing to do.
Ve got up early and went over to the post office. I sent the ppper on Tenforan
to Dr. Thomas by meil because I was afraid that they would search me if I took
it outs I had to send it special delivery and fourth clase because registered
mail would cost me {1.20-~I didn't have & red eent to my name.

After lunch I noiiced that Kurskake's vegetable garden was coming along
quite well, He wae saying that within a few daye he could have some fresh
vegetable for tsukemono. We packed agaim so that we could be ready to pull
out on an hours notice. Tomi had a headache and went to bed. Jim Yamada
came over and brought a lock for us to use when we left. He wanted to make
sure that he could have the room when we left.

I got letters from Miss Knoles and from Cundlach. He seni me In Faet,

We were all packed up but mo order. Hell.

; I haé¢ to take the clothesline down after supper because we needed the
rope to tied up our bedding. Tomi combed her hair for a long time. Tally
then cume over and all of us went over to Rosie's. Tally and I talked to Iehi
about the J.A«Cel. and its policies. He was equally disgusted.

Tomi, Rosie, Tally and I ate all the food that we had lefi over. We
thought we may as well finish it since we couldn't teke it alonge We had a
can of pork and beans, sdlami and cheese and some crackers.

Tomi said that her father wanted us to pay up $4.60 to Jim for peying
for some stuff that we didn't even order. I didn't have a damm cent to my
name and didn't have for a ¢ouple of weeke. I didi't know when I was going
to be paide It seemed unreasonable that he should demand it after telling
me just before we were married that he didm't want to have anything to do
with us and then making us pay for something we didmn't order. I was preity
mad.




June 9, 1942

I got up early and shaved. I went over to see Greeme but he hed no news
of our transfer. He said he would send out our name on the teletype and ask
San Franciscoe

At the recppticn hall, we saw Dr. Thom.‘ Dr. leady Virginia and the others.
We talked about all sorte of things. Margeret lead was quite an interesting
womane She told us all sorts of things and asked pertinemt questions.

I was reading a magazine when Sat and Impie came over to gay good bypp.
Then they went with Tomi to see Jimmy about the moneys. I was siitting around
along when Toko and Mine got locked out snd Tok had to climb in through our
room to open the door. )

One of the UsCe kids came in to ask me about student relecation. Apparently
he hed seen my name in the letierhead of the committee and he wented to apply
for a scholarshipe I held my temper and was as cordisl as possible to him and
told him I didn't know anything about echolerships. He was an old son of a
biteh. le was one of the wise Nisei boys who knew everything. 1In Jeanuary when
we were trying to get some sort of organization to meet the emergency on the
cempus he wae one of the wise guys in the J.S.C. who felt that nothing was
going to happen and said he mever needed any help from Blaisdell or from any
other Caueasian., s was the guy who told me thet he hated Caucasians and that
he wouldn't join the YHCA if his 1ife depended on it. I noticed that he was
now very meek and cooperative. I <«wnndered how he got the gots to come see me.
Even now, though, he had some odd idems about getting alomg with Caucasians.

I don't see how he could form opinioms about Caucedisne without knowing eny.
I hoped that he couldn't get out. I almost felt like writing Conard sbout the
bastard. !e's not worth a scholarehip, ;

I was reading Time when a man came around to colleet some money for a
party for kitechen workers. I asked him how much he wented end who it was for,
He didn't enswer. When I asked him if it was for mess 8 he said yess then I
teld him I didn't have a cent,

At supper, the political campaign begen. Ernie Iiyema was introducsd to
the people by an Issei.

Earnie Tekehashi came in to ssy that Friar had sgreed to send a men in to
talk to us. He asked me to draw up some questions to esk.




June 10, 1942

I got up late today. Tally came rushing in with the news that Bessie had
seen our moving order on Creene's desk. I washed up end noticed a Caucasian
worker in the washroom with a big bottle of whiskey., I filled in my draft board
questionnaire. Harno came in and gave me a script book--what wie left of his.
Tomi burned herself ironing amd there was a lot of excitement.

After lunch I finished filling in the questiionmaire and got the P.0. men
to notorisze it for me. I got some cigarettes and Baby Ruth. I walked up to
the Totalizer office. Taro and Sehanghai were there. 1Lil said she had heard
from Jime She said thet Jim was wkiting to no one unless they wrote first, I
recalled that I hadn't heard from him either. I didn't even know whers he wes,
but Lillian said he was in Tulare and that he was expecting tc go to Tulelake.

I noticed that some men were preparing the hall for a big pariy for mess
hall workerss I learmed that it was for the workers who had served in the main
kitchen. Then I thought of the old Issei who came around collecting money and
got mad, He tried to get money from me on false pretenses,

I talked to Tally and Toby for a while and then went over to Amme's. GShe
was playing some Russian music and discussing receni books with uarii.

After supper I prepared a gift for ley and then read the article by
HCWilliems and the recommendations of the Seatile Welfare workers commitiee
that Charlie and Anne had given me.

We then went to the Town Hall meeting. The audience was there at 7, but
the WRA man was not notified of the change of tims so he wasn't there. Appe~
rently some mese halls had announced thet an interpretation would be made and
many Issel ceme, While they were walting for the WRA man to come, Irnie ran
about wildly and finelly found e men to speak Japanese and tell the Issei that
no translation would be made. The meeting as a whole was dull. lir. Ferguseon
an attorney and his essistant lr. Throckmorton were very good but the quesiions
were dumb~-gome of them were amswered in the folders already.

We then went to the housing headquarters for the perty for Tally's birthdey.
Mamie was gushing around but Tally was pretty eick end didn't look liek he
enjoyed it at all. There were ten of ue there. Ve all ate end raised hell
until 11:20.

At 10130 we went to wash in the laundry room emd sew an unsanctioned party
going on there. It looked like the remnants of the mess hell party there.
Young kide about fifteen were jiving to hot musice I wondered how high the
illegitimecy rate would be when I moticed the look on the eyes of one of the
Hawaiian boys. :




June 1ll, 1942

§ti11 no word from the Army. I was im bed until moon. I then took a shower
and went to lunch.

I telked to Pete and iline for a while and then Tomi went to the hospital
to get her finger treated. The Yamasakis gave us some ice cream. We then went
4o the Toteliser office. I wanted fo visit some of the school classes bul they
were not opened yet.

1 walked over to the recepiion hall with nothing im particular in mind and
ren into 8ill Himel. e said he had to move to Colorado amd said that he would
probably drop in at Tulelake om his way outl 40 see his "relative" ithere.

Tomi met her prof loise and got some candy and calendars from him.

At home I wrote Barry end Dr. Thomas and then read the Pacifie Citizen
for a while.

We then went to the Telent Show and saw Naj and Kiyo kiyake there in the
erowd, They looked pretty chummy. The m.c. was lousy. An old man kept hopping
around when the lousy Haweiian music came em and attracted all the attention of
the audience. He fimelly got kicked out by & cops The grandstand was 2/3 full
and little kids were rumning all arcumd, Vulgerity was quite common amd guys
were yelling anytime regardless of the performance. Those leaving early showed
no regard for the perflormers or the audience. Typieally Jap show mmuners. The
program was lousy and dominated by Hawaiian Nisei and their somgss Alice lukai
came out in & hula suit and got some whistles amd dirty oracks.

Tomi emd I finally decided to go because it was so lousy and left by a eide
entrance. Ve wenmt over to Sue's bul they were out. We then weni over to Doris’
places 'The furniture thers was swell. Ve talked about the evacustion and
then about the transfer to Tulelake.




June 12, 1943

What the hell! Yo tranesésr yet.

I got up at 10. There was no water since the main line was shut again.
God demmit. Tomi gave me a haricut and I shaved. As I fimhshed, Sat came
over and said, Not yet?

After lunch I went over to talk to Tally. Doris came running up and said
that our tramsfer order was in. I went to see Mr. Cunder and he had my order
and Tomis but our nemes were horribly misspelled. He said he didn't know whether
the order referred to me or not and that he could not release me unless Davis
eaid it was 0.,X, We made the arragements to leave Sunday with Zstabrook. liaj's
order waen't théres I went home to tell Naj and Toml. Naj then weni up to see
Davis but the dirty bastard refused to call S.F. or to telstype to find out.
Davis told Naj that he had been left out purposely by the Army and that he was
in no position to question the integrity of the Army. He said that he would
just have to wait. Naj couldn't get id through his head that he couldn’t wait
because the office was closed Saturday aftermoonand Sundsy and Tomi and I were
leaving Sundey afternmoon. Even if his order came on Monday it would be too
late. Davis is a real genuins son of a bitch.

I wernt to the Tetalizer office to walt for the results of Harme's conference
with Davis, 7T looked at the bulletin from Tulelake and it sounded 0,X, The
list of things they were selling in the canteen really looked good.

The carpenters were putting barbed wire above the office. Naj still was
gone. T went out and talked to Estabrook and Hiramo end Miyake and Ogawa.
Ogewa said he gave up trying to improve Tanforan because it was imposeible.
Estabrook told us that the man who was going to take us to Tule took others to
Menganar a few daye ago and got in trouble with some drunken soldiers who wanted
to kill ell the Japs.

We had to eat supper cafeteria style because there was no water to wash
the serving diehes. MNine was having a hell of a time because she had diarrhea
and all the tcilets were closed.

Ernie Tekahashi ceme over to mek me about Tulelake. He said he was ithinking
of joining his brother there and thought he would take over the place. "I don't
want to be an optometrist a2ll my lifei I figure my brother and I have enough
pull so that one of us can get to be in optometry. I want to get a WRA job as
educational supervisor. I've written to Alde, end others. TWrite end let me
know about edusation in the relocation cneters, If I don't get a job in edu-
cation I can s2lways fall back into eptometrys I had to lemme Fresno. I was
getting in good with the politicians by selling them votes and got pleanty of
business, I was just beginning to make money whem this had to come. I elways
hated this kind of work and I want to get into something new. The only good
part about Fresno was the fun with the politiclianss They gave phenty for votes."

A couple of girls came in to ask us to sign gremsfere to Tulelake. I
went over to see Tally end found that he end liamie had left to see us. Ve
wetched the twilight league gamee for a while and then went to the Yusas and
bull‘d and B.t.. ar i 3

.




June 13, 1942

We were awakened by Rosie. While we were talking to her, Naj came in
end said he had no luek in his arguments with Davis, He was mad as hell.

At lunch we talked about leaving. Mime still had the bug and wae still
running. We went over to the Yamazakis, r. Y. gave us a prosJapan talk, the
first I1'd heard since the evacuation. He said, "the only hope for the U.S.
is to make peaces The Americem cabinet should resign.”

I went over to Tally's to get some cigarettes and tslked to Takahashi =sbout
the coming election. He ssid he waen't afraid #f Ifyama's block of 250 votes.
L then got in 2 gruck end rode zround with Tally and Doris as they started to
check up on the census. I read the new Totelizer and then went . to supper.

After supper I talked to Anne for a while. She was plenty griped. She
sddd the Catholics were trying to go toghther somewhere and thei the teachers
in the schoole used horrible English,

I read Time for a while and then sat around waiting for Tally to come es
he had promised. He didn't come so I went to the election rally in recreetion
hall 6+ It was an empty barrack filled mostly by Issei. Speakers performed
in both languages. There were boos and clapp and kids ran in and out, Iyeki
double~croseed Iiyames and spoke for Takahashi. I was mad when I lemrmed that
someone had red-baitéd Ilyama end turned Iyeki's influence over to Henry. I
knew Henry was dirty enough to do it but I didn't think he would.

Tomi end I then went to Mrs. Harmmo's for s farewell party. At 8:30
no one wae there but Sue and Tosh but the others ceme later. Dash of the
relatives brought some food and dishes and utensile. Tomi's mother and the
girls ccoked end the others helped clean up. The men pleyed cards by them-
selves.

I thought of the move tomerrow. I couldn't help but feel apprehsnsive
about the Menganar drunken soldier ineidemt, but let it gos




June 14, 1942

Todey was moving day. After waiting for three weeks we finally
got our orders from the Army to go to Tule Lake.

We got up at 10 when Harno ceame into the room to lend us eight
bjeks, since we were broke. We packed up hastily and joked with
liine Okubo and the Kurakakess I couldn't help but thinking of losing
such fine friends and meighbors.

I plled the beds on top of each other so that I could mop the
floor. We didn't have any room in which to roll the bedding so we
had to clean the dirty floor. I took a shower end then returned to
packs Everything was in a mess and I couldn't see how much Junk could
accumilate in a dump like Tanforan wheme there was nothing to buy.

Vie had our last Tanforan meal with Mich end Amme. They told us
of the near-riot that eccurred at the political rally last night.
Apparently the Issei and the Kibei were not satisfied with the par-
ticipation end demanded more speeches. When the chairmen refused to
€omply with their wishes, they threatened him and his group~=including
frienddHenry Takehashi.

What a hell of a lunch-~just a wiemle, potate salady soup and
lousy pudding. Just when we were part way through & men had an epi=-
leptie fit and rolled around the middle of the mess hall floor. Every=
one was excited and many stopped eating: The nurses and nurses' aids
all came to the rescue, but mamy refused to go on eating. .

Ve went home and were busily packing amd people--especially rela-
tives-=started visiting us at 2. What the Bbll! It's certainly nice
of them to come see us off, tut why in the hell do dbey have to stend
in the way when we're busy packing. We couldn't lock up our things
until 2115 when Sullivam, the mam to0 accompany us to Tule Lake, ceme
in to search our baggage. The truck came right up %o our door emd
heibdd our things away. We walked over to the reception room with
Telly, Harno and Kiyo liyake (Kiyo and Harmo were holding handsiill)

At 3140 we walked over to the gate and stood around for 20 minutes
talking to our fiiends and relatives until 4., Tomi's father actually
shook hands with me when we seid good bys, but he apparently still
has a grudge against me. Sullivan took us into a room with a couple
of ape=like hombres and search both of us to see whether or not we
were armed. After saying good-bye, we left a little after 4 in the
back of a baggage truck for Sem Frameisco. Two other drivers were
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Tenforan, war conditions outside, loyal and disloyal Japenese. The
driver told us that when he was given the job he was told that he
had to treat. all the Japanese in the Cemter courteously. He felt that
while there might be a few spies, most Japanese were good people and
did not deserve to be confined in the camp., He was very indignent
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when he learnmed that doctors and other professional men were getting
only $16 dollars a month. He felt that trained men should be paid
what they were worth.

When we got to the Ferry building,; Sullivam got the tickets and
checked our baggage. As we walked over toward the waiting room, Vir-
ginia suddenly came dashing over at us, We were surprised to see her,
but in a way expected to find someone in S5.F. since we had writien
that we would be there about 5¢ WeIsy DeSey lorton and his wife were
there too. W.Is bought us the first carbonated drink that we had sinece
Aprile~boy, was it good? Virginia gave me the bill for the food we
ordered and some cigarettese~the wrong kind, darn her. They all brought
some ecandy for Tomi.

At 5135 wo got on the ferrye. Apparently everyone who saw us
thought we were Chinese. We saw a lot of sailors around; but they
did not even look at uss One emall girl stared at us as if to say,
"yhat are these fumny looking people doing here?" Sklliven was sitting
avay from us so that people would not get suspiciouss I was still
griped about his not helping Toml carry some of her load. Ve read
Kenny's letter (which DuS¢ gave me) and by the time we got through
we were in Oskland.

We got on the train for Klammath Falls at 6115« OSullivan left
us and didn't come back until 8:30. We them ate supper om the train,
Apparently everyone thought we were Chinese for they all stared at us
but seemed to be definitely friemndly. The supper we had was the only
decent edible food we had for a long time. Ve had veal stew, mashed
potatoes, rollsy milk, black tea, cake and ice cream. It was expen-
sive but it wae really worth it to us. This was the first time I pald
a meal fare in the train without grumbling. As we were walking out
of the diner, the headwaiter addressed Tomi in Chinese: When we looked
at him surprised and not knowing what to say, he apparently interpreted
our look of amagement as & sign that he had spoken poorly and apologized.

We sdk at our place thinking about what Tule Lake was like. I
noticed as the day came to an end that the war had brought about many
changes in traine. There were no cokes for sale, sugar was in a small
paper bag, shades were all down at 9, and all lights were turned out
at 11. I noticed that even the pillows were getting expensive-=ten
cents when they used to be free.

Well, we are finelly on our way to Tule Leske. I am glad that we
are out of Tanforan., If there is enything I'll avoid or dislike when
ve get out after the wary, it is race tracks. Perhaps the name-<Davige--
will arouse my temper too., What & hell of a place. No matter what
Tule is like, It can't be worse, If there is any change, it has to be
for the better, it can't posoibly be worse.

We read papers end whiled our time until the lights went out.
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June 15, 1942

We had a terrible night on the train. I had indegestion and it
was 80 unconfortable that I just couldn't sleep. Some soilders, women
and a little kid kept making noise. I think I slept for about three
hours,

At 5110 I was awakened by Tomi as we passed M. Shasta. I suppose
it was pretty but I wasn't in en appreciative modd. I webbed up and
noted that Sullivan was already up.

We arrived at Klammath Falls at 6145 and there at the station saw
Sekoda and his brother and sister. Jim was wearing a hat that made
him look like a Korean. We all went across the street and for the
first time had ham and eggs.

Vhat a jerk-water town! We got on the tus at 8 and wandered
back and forth on the bus between the train station and the bue depto
for 3/4 of en hour. Finally, at 9, the driver decided that he had
too many pessengers and told us to take the Cadillee they had in
reserve and the guards drove us to Tule Lake.

We arrived at the ppoject all bored at 11:15. It wes a huge
place with rows upon rows of barracks. We went to the administration
building and were greeted as we got dff the car by Dr. Jacoby. We
went in and met lr. Shirrell who seemed rather nisce. ur. Friedman
then escorted us to the hospital and brought us to our apartment.

We were given a huge room 20 x 25. The room wae lined with brown
material and cote were strewn over the place. It was dirty but not
so bade Our first impression of the place was that it was pretty good.

Since there was & huge wood-~pile acorss the street, we went out
right eaway to get some wood. Tomi managed to get better wood by
talking to the truck drivers. We managed to gather quite a pile.

We are surrounded by a bunch of country hicks. They just come
by quietly, peek into the room and then giggle. They are very curious
and they seem to tell amything..

Ve walked over to the canteen to get a hammer emnd other eupplies.
What a place! The whole barrack with plenty of hardware, food, tobacco,
soday everything including clothes! This is really a place.

We walked over to the unfinished baracks to get some nails. The
Caucasian carpenters apparently understood our plight end helped us
eteal nails by looking the other way when we stooped to take some out
of the barrel.

We went over to the block manager's place and got a mop and broom.
He was a rather gruff bastard but seemed 0.K. Tomi then swept out
the room.




About 4130 we still didn't have any baggage so I walked over to the
edministration building. Jecoby noticed me standing there and he
took me all over the camp looking for the truck that might possibly
have the suitcases. No luck.

As we were sitting there moaning about the baggage and wondering
what could have happemed to it, ome of the girls who lived eround here
came over to tell us the meal time. She told us to rush over to the
mess hall right sway since they did not serve late comers. We went
to the wash room (which was very cleen) and then to the mees hall.
Just when we got there we moticed that the truck driver was looking
for us, We went home together and selected out our baggage and told
him Sekoda's address so that he could deliver it. Needless to say,
we were late to supper.

Supper was pretty good. We had beans, lettuce salad, corrots,
rice, milk, and aprle eobbler. It was really swell, The waitreeses
gesm to teke pride in the kitchen snd braggingly expleined the pro-
cedure of eating to us. When we got home end man came over from
the other end of the blokk to warn us that unless we showed up on time,
we could not eat. He also asked us if we knew someone in Denver and
when we ssked why he asked such a question he replied that he heard
thet we were from Demver. Apparently people around here didn't know
where Tenforan was :nd when we told them we came from there they started
imegining where that must be. I ecouldn't help but notiecing the
predominance of the use of Japanese among these rural people {rom
Clarksburg and Courtland. They are kind but their boorish curiosity
is irriteting.

I started work on a table., Jacoby came in to see if werwere
settled comfortebly. He has really been swell to us all day. He
seems to be busy as hell.

I econtinued to work om the table until 9330 when it started to
get pretty dark. Tomi arranged the things and partially unpacked.
We pounded naile all over the place and hung up some of our things.
We took & shower and being very tired went to bed.

Our first impreseion of Tule Leke was that it was a pretty good
place. The physical facilities are pretty good end the administrative
men are just swell. The only set-back is the stupidity of the people
we live with., We hope that Tamforan can come here to off-set the
stupiedity.




June 16, 1942

We didn't get up until 10. I shaved im the wash room. We
then walked over to the canteen which isn't so far away and got some
soda and cookies. There was no saw or sandpaper left. We browsed
mround and got home just in time to put a lock on our door and rush
off to lunch.

We couldn't help but noting a competitive spirit between the
blocks. The people insisted that block 4 was the best in all res-
pects. We had the least number of thieves, the best coocke and the
best everything. The superior attitude tekem by the residents as they
explained the etrict regulations to newcomers was amusing. One man
even went so far ae to show me how to flush a toilet properly!

I worked hard all afterncon to make a walls Since we expected
mother and dad any day, we hurriedly drew up our floor plans and
started making walls. We had plenty of wood since Tomi enticed the
truck drivers to bring it over to our place. Ehe also went out to
get eome more nails when we ran out. Jacoby came im late in the
afternoon to tell us that the Miyamotos had arrived and that we
ought to meet at his home for a discussion on the study.

We were late te lupﬁor again. This time our watch was off. We
hurried to Sakodas to fell them aboutthe meeting tonight. We then
took a shower and rushed over to Jacoby's place. :

Thefr barrack was very much like burs only they had partitions
in elready. MNrs. Jacoby was very sweet and they have a cute baby and
two dogs. We were talking but a few moments when Jim and his brother
and sister came in. Soon Miyamoto and his wife came. They really
looked very young. Miyamoto looks like a college freshman, We talked
over the nature of the study and diescussed music. We had some iced
tea and had a pleasant time. About 10 o'clock Mr. Jacoby had to
leave to check up on some of his wardems and we all broke up and went
homs,

For a little while, we sat us and phanned the room.




June 17, 1942

We got up at 8:30 this morning. Tomi wemt over to the canteen to
get & saw and ordered a plane. I spent the morning working on the wall.
Tomi went out after some nails and wood. Ve almost missed lumbh because
she was eo slow in getting back. :

After lunch we walked over to the post office at the end of the
project to get a packege. After getiing the package of food from
Berkeley, we hurriedly walked over to the new wood-pile to get the
wood that Tomi had reserved only to find the thing stolen. The people
gtole her idea of peserving wood and all over there were huge piles
of wood with reserved written on it but all of Tomi's wood wasstolen.
She was really mad, so we just took four two by fours and walked home.

We saw Jimmy for = moment and then went home and worked on the
walls. After supper we worked on the walls some more. I noticed
that some kids were out in the firebreaks playing ball.

I worked on the walls until pretty late at night. We finally
succeeded in putting up two walls, a double shelf, a table and &
chair. &s we went to take a shower I saw a swell pice of firtex to
£ill in a gap in our wall so we helped ourselves.

It seems very much as thw;h'n few improvements will meke this
place a swell place to live. I've been working om construction so
wmuch thet I haven't seen the camp yet but it looks pretty encouraging.




June 18, 1942

We got up at 11340 but I couldn't shave begause I forgot to put
a blade in my razor. Dammit! We rushed to lunch.

Tomi was a little sick today so I had to work by mpself. I made
another wall, & huge study desk and a book shelf.

At supper, the block menager (who ghve out the mail in the mess
halle) gave me a letter from Thomas. I completed work on the desk and
laid some plans for building a closet.

We cleaned up and walked over to see Jimmy but he wasn®t home.
We dropped in at the Miyamoto's and talked for some time about socio-
logy and music. I started getting sick and felt like vomiting and
finally left for home without saying a words I couldn't because if
I opened my mouth it would have come outs On the way home I vomited
and then bad to run for the toilet. I felt sick as hell all night.
I guese I should have taken lMrs. Jacoby's warning sbout bad water
seriously.

June 19, 1942

I had to get out of bed a 4:45 to run to the toilet and get a
drink of water. I felt better and slept until 11. I didn't feel
like going to lunch so Tomi went and ceme back with some oranges and
grapefruits from the canteen. GShe also succeeded in cashing a check
for ten dollarw.

I slept for a while after having some canmed soup and an orgnge.
Jim dropped in for a while and then left. Tomi went off to supper
and later cooked some spaghetti for me. I just didn't feel like
eating the slop they served in the mess halls while my stomach was
upset. The very smell of that greasy food made me sick.

I wrote a few letters and went to bed early.




June 20, 1942

Ve got up at 10 and went over to the centeen. Just as we got
back we noticed that Mrs. Jasoby had brought Miss Cempbell of Berkeley
over tc see us. It was really swell to see them agein., We sat among
the lumber and just talked and talked.

After lunch Tomi got sicks. She claimed that she had tomsilitis.
She said to go ashead and work while she slept. I built e closet, &
chair, two cabinets, and enother table. I cleaned up the room and put
out the excese lumber for Harmo to use when he ceme.

After supper I cleaned up and took and showers Since our construc-
tion work wee over, I changed my clothes for the first time, I mede
some orange juice end compresses for Toml who how had = fever., I
read a magazine in the léving room for a while amd went to bed.

Junme 21, 1942

Tomi is still laid up with ton#ilitis. I got up with intentions
of working but walked to the centeen to set some sode, orgnges and some
paper. Since they had no espirine, I walked over to the hospital to
get some gargle. I found that the pharmacist knew thet the people
who lived at our address had come from Tanforan. Apperently the news
of our arrivel hed travelled pretty far.

Lunch was lousy so I ceme homeand cooked some soup for Tomi. I
then walked over to the libesry but found it closed. I met Sugipama
(formerly of Cal) end saw Toby Taira from Stockton. We talked over
@ld times and then I went home to see how Tomi was coming along.

Tomi got up for supper. We had ham and cabbage. I moticed that
the boy at our table used the soup bowl for e “chawen" and with tea
ate "ochasuke" happily with the "tsukemonmo" that wason the table. Where
he got his chopsticks I don't know.

Since It wae very hot we sat in fromt of the house for a while.
Then we wlaked over to the end of the project to see where the lake
was. Ve went over to the other side of the hill and sew a small
pond, but were stopped by the guard before we could go farther.

We got back and drank some pop end read the fumny-pepers. Tomi
was well again o we ate some macaroni. Then I worked om my reports
for a while.




June 22, 1942

Tomli got up early today to register for the stenographers' training
course under adult education. She wanted to brush up on her typing and
learn more shorthand. She says that she wants to be a good stemographer
for the study.

We went over to the centeen and bought some cokes and a bucket.
We left our laundry there too. On the way home we stoppedat the
Miyamotos and had a chat. They are really swell people. Frank seems
to be more than intelligent and is very sharp. Uichi is a very sweet
womans We are really lucky that we have such nice people to work with.
Both of us were thinking that perhaps the stay here won't be so bad
80 long as they are around.

After lunch, Tomi was sick again. Ve drank some cokes end then
sat around for a while resting because it was too hot to do anything.

I worked for a while to revise the preliminary report I had
wiitten out on Tule lLeke. I was afraid that my firs t impression of
this place was so good that it might be misleasding. If was afraid that
I might have to change my mind whem I got to know this place better.

On top of that, if I sent these reports io Tanforan without any doc-
toring I might start a riot around there to come up here.

I wrote a few letters and then we went to supper.

We attended the social welfare discussion group led by Jacoby.
It vas really a sad group. Mr. Jacoby was so paitent and practically
hinted ht every answer but the people there were so dumb or so shy
that they Jjust didn't say anything. It was really disgusting. I
didn't know that college studente could be so dammn dumb--especially
Cal students.

Jim and George ceme elong with us. We picked up the Miyamotios
and came home to have coffee, cokes, and craskers. We ha& a very
pleasant evening just chatting until 1 o'clock. We talked about the
study, social theory, end other things about the camp.




Junme 23, 1942

I got up at 11:30 end shaved just in time for lunch. I worked
for a while on letters. I went over to the administration building
to see Dr. Francis but ehe wasn't in. I noticed that Nisel engineers
and architects were drafting pleans for ether buildings to be con-
gtructed here. I met Henry Omachi and Jobo from Cel and we went over
tb the canteen. There I met Kit, Fumio Nishida and Eugene Okada.

It looked as though Sacramentc was coming in in force.

Apparently some conflict was already taking plece between the
people from the north and those who are just coming in frem California.
For one thing, the newspaper steff, being run by some dope from Seattle,
was not very friendly to the Sacramentans. Apparently the Wallerge
staff had brought a letter to Mr. Shirrell asking that they all be
placed on the staff of the Tule Lske paper. The Ruusy staff from
Seattle seemed to resent the fact and seemed to be afraid that they
were going to be replaced. The editor refused to shake hands or to .
speek to the Sacramentans.

I learned from the fellows that there had been some irouble at
the dance Saturday night. The Washington people had wanted slow
mueic while the Californiems demanded jitterbug musie. Since the
music came from the jukeboxes an arguement arcse over who was to put
in the nickel in anad mmbb the selection. Apparenily some gangs of
Sacramento fellows got a little rough because there seemed to be a
fear on the part of the Washingtonians that they were going to be
beaten up by some roggh gangs.

We all went over to the Dispateh office to look eround. It was
really disgusting., The paper was being durned out in en emply recrea-
tion barraek and the noise there was terrific. The workers looked
like a bunch of half-educeted morons.

I took a walk over to the library over at the next reereation
halls It was nothing more than an empty barreck with fifteen desks.
I was pleasantly surprised io see several good sccial science books
although they didn't seem to have much else. I was told that a lr.
Elberson on the staff had turned over his privete collectiion. Among
the books were liead's Coming of Age in Jamos and Sex and Temperament.
Sorokin'e Contemporary Sociological Theories and Social obility;
MacIver's Society; Ogburn's Socisl Change; Veblen's Thlory of the
Leisure Clages MoWilliam's Faetories in the Fields; Redin's Soclal

§ Parson's Structure of Cocial Agtlom; Park and Durgess'
mew: Lichtenberger’s [istory of

foecial Thought, Cooley's Social Theory and Research, Davis' World Immi-
gration were among the mamy books they carrieds There were books on

populetion by Thompson, Carr-Saunders end several ecomomic theory
books including Keynes, Marshall, Robinson, Hicks, and Chamberlain.

T learned that besides Mr. Elberson's books the liodoe county
library supplied dome of their left-overs.




When I learned that the assistant libmmrian was one of the
chairmen at the dence last Saturday, I started asking her questions.
She didn't know I was from California and was quite free in telling
me what she tought of Califormians. 8She argued that Californians
were barbarians and senseless. She felt that while jitterjugging
was O.k. if there were space there just wasn't enough toom to do it
last Seturdaye. She felt that Californiams were too fast because the
men continually frequented whore houses and the girls gave too often.
A1l Washingtonians must work hard to remain respectable.

I got home just in time to iu Jacoby. He came with the news
that Dr. Thomas would be here tomorrow.

After supper, we went over to the Miyamotos to leave the good
newe end talked for a while. We then went over to the Sgkodas and
talked there umtil 11:30.




- June 24, 1942

We got up at 10 and went over to the canteen. There was no
pPlane there yet so we just gol some soda and came homs.

Right after lunch Dr. Thomas, W.I. and & fellow from Washington.
The Hiyamoto's and the Sakoda's ceme over and we bulled eXT afternoon
end didn't accomplish a demn thing except get acquainted agein., I
learned during the conversation that my money had not yeit been
deposited in the bank ms yet amd that the check that Tomi wrote last
week was no goods We borrowed $10 from W.I. to pay them back.

We had supper with the Thomases at our mees hall. The people
around were very curious whem they saw Gaucasians and the head waiter
came over to ask all kinds of quesiioms. We had beans, which they
claimed they liked, but whieh I thoroughly disliked. All eyes seemed
to be focused et corner om the Caucesisns. :

After supper, lrs. Thomes read Jimmy's report while W.I. went
outs Ve waited and waited for Jacoby to arrive before starting our
conference and finally got started et 8. We talked over the matter
of objectivity and Jimny was still worried abouti beimg taken for spiee.

After everyone left, we were hungry so I went over to the latrine
for some water. There I ran imto an argument between lir. Yuasa, the
block delegate, end a Kibei. They were arguing over the matter of
velunteering for work in the fields. There had been en appeal for
age workers since there was much planting to be done.

‘The young Fibeli was arguing influent Japanese before a erowd of
nine Issei that the Kibei and Nisei were citizems but had been uprooted=-
why should we volunteer to plant potatoes? Yuasa answered ihat the
government wae protecting us eand we should cooperate to meke this
place the best we can. To this the Kibei answered that we are getting
thrown around, "we farmed for thirty years emd were uprooted, You
city people don't undersiand., We ere im a terrible situation and at
the merey of the dirty ketol" I tried o shand eround but the men
looked at mwe with disfavor so I left slowly. The argument was going
on 80 heatedly that I could hear them cursing even when I was 50 feet

avay.e

Vhile having soup and crackers with cheese, I read im the Diepatch
thet people were required to work or pay $20 per persom room and board
or else be tremsferred eleewhere. Where was this elselhere Jacoby
talked ebout? What kind of a prison was it? Apparently there is
some resenthent in thie camp against Caucaisms and this ruling might
lead to some trouble. I though about if for a while in bed.




June 25, 1942

We got up at 9145 and washed up. By the time I got back  the
Thomases were elready here waiting. Sakod and the Hiyemotes came
and we talked over the study and ite problems. We talked at some
lenghh over vhat kind of release we were going give to the newspaper.
Suddenly W.I. though of a good annocuncement, & very simple onewrsid
the problem was settled.

W.T. posed a tentetive outlime: (1) the aspiretions and goals,
(2) econflicts, (3) adjustments after a period of strife and (4)
deviations from the regular pattern. Then Bates and Goss from the
WoReAe Information divieior came in and promised to get some books
for us. Datee seemed like en old windbag with a tremendous interest
and tittle knowlwege of geography. Coss seemed pretty sharp end more
like a newspaper man. Both were very nice and cooperative.

At lumeh we had to snswer some questions about the Caucasians th at
ate with us yesterday.

We went over to the camteen to stock up on sodas and ordered copies
of 'Lost Norizon' and 'The Good Eerth's The laundry wes not yet ine

Ve s&t around for while and listneded to the redio and a men came
in to theck up on the linings of firtex in our room.

Soon Dr. Thomas came in. Jim eame over and we talked about our
Nisei friends, particularly Kemny, Cherlie, and Wang.

Jecoby wae supposed to come efter the Thomases but he didn'i come.
We left them in the room and went out to supper and when we returned,
they were gone.

Ve walked over to the newly inhabited parts of the camp to see if
Koe had coms to cemp. Since Maryeville was coming in, we though that
he might be there. We say Kit end Farvey Itano but eouldn't find
¥oe or Koso. Some of the Marysville people though that perhaps the
Hinokis and the Coluse people went to Merced. We stoped in et a meeting
thet Shirrell waes having with newcomers but left eerly. We wenti over
to the libmery and picked up some books. We notieced that the boye were
just sitting eround there reading newspapers and Life megazines.

At home, I sterted reading Meed's Coming of Age in Samos. Jacoby
camo in whith his dog emd told us how much work he bad to do. IHe was
very favorebly impressed with the Thomases. I continued to read while
Tomli made some soupy and hash,




+

June 26, 1942

Today ie Tomi'es birthday. We were yanked out of bed at 11:30
when Herno showed up with Sugiyema and some other guy. He had just
errived end he claimed that he didn't like the place.

We all had lunch at home. Tomi got some haghend salad from the
dining hall and we had some soup to esupplement it. We went over to
see the Uiyamotoe end then wemt to the bemk to seitle the mater of
the rubber check.

Since Harno had to lived with some people he didn't know--a woman
who wgs about to have a babty, we thought thai we ought to have his
room changed. We went over to the admimistretion building to see
Friedmean, WUhile he wes talking to Frienmiman I talked to Dr. Francis
about starting em orientation course for Nisei estudents who were
planning to be reloczted in the eastern colleges and she 0.K.ed the
plan.

We went over to the place where Harnmo was supposed to stay and
found that the beggege hed not arrived as yet. Ve saw Dr. Uyeyama and
Dr. Ishimu with whom NgJ had come. We then slopped at the dantéep and
got our laundry and some pOp.

We halped Harmeo carry his things to the bachelors' quarters on
our block. The set up seemed retiy good. There was enother Kibei
fellow who used to teach at Washington, a couple of dopes amd a
former Stanford gmaduate. Ancther Issei used to cook for the Navy
and he understood end spoke English quite wells While we were looking
around a terrific dust and rain storm caue upe The dust was so thick
that we couldn't see the barrack mccross the sireet. [Harno was really
disgrurtled and claimed that he prefered Tanforan to thls place.

He denied thet he missed the women in Tanforan and said that the weather
was just bousy. We rushed home in the midst of rain and dust and
hurriedly closed all our windows.. As I tried to gel some wood and

coal from the box outside Tomi was trying to hold en umbrella over me
end it flew eway in the storm. While Tomi closeéd the window and I
started a fire, Harno was busy fixing up one of his laumpe in our room.

At supper Nej had to sit by himself at a different table. He
looked very umhappye. ¥e then wemt over to Dr. Ishizu's to see about
Harmo's baggege. We went back to the Miyamotos and there met Dr.
Vatanabde -

We went home for Tomi's birthdey party. Uiyamotos, Watanabe, Naj
end I perved salami, cheese, hash and crackers. We talked with Naj
until very late. He seemed very umhappy.




June 27, 1942

Tomi got up early today to help the women om the block clean up
the women's latrine, NEj came in about 11 and we all went to lunch
together.

I sat around resding lead for a while and then went over to the
canteen and bought & copy of Time., Then I tock Naj around to see the
librery end the newspaper offices We went over io the Sakodas but
Jim waen't home., Ruby pleyed her sccordinen for us and made me wonder
what the difference was between Jepanese and Western musics The same
instruments could play them and the notes could be written in the
seme way and yet there were some characterisiics that made the two
obviously different.

We went over to the camteen and bought sowe sandpaper and then
rushed home for supper. I sandpapered the table end then tock a shower
end changed my clothes. We welked over to the can to emply our
barrel of wasteinto the canm.

I read Mead for a while end Nej ¥ell asleep on our couche I walked
with Tomi to the dence but we were too early. We walked over to Koso's
but he waen't home. We left a note for him and then went back to the
dence in the event thet there was eny trouble ihere. We sew wany of
Tomi'e former friends.

Apperently this time the demces were being held im iwo different
mess hells. People vere walking back and forth betweem the two.
The music was both soft and Jive. People were buying socda end yelling
and many boys were hanging around outside end just watching and meking
nuieences of themselves.

we met Jobo and he told us thet Pimedale and the white zone were
combng in here.

We went home and Tomi was busy for a while whacking wosquitoes.
Naj fimelly ewoke end left for home. We had some soup and read Time
until 1:30. '




June 28, 1942

We got up just im time for lumch.

After lunch I helped Naj build his furniture. We got the wood
we saved for him and built and closet, a cabinet and a combination
book case and megazine holder. We also fixed up a protector for the
wall behind the etoves Wele's ndils came in very handy.

Ve couldx‘i"‘c. help but noticing the neweomers acroes the firebreak.
A woman was hauling wood shead of a man like a beast of burden. It
seemed that there was no more good wood left for the mew people.

We learned that each barrack was to have e representative to the
block meeting., We selected the man mext door to be our man. They
also began of survey of the ken from which we cames, When I told the
man I was born here and didn't know where in the bbll hy parente came
from, he indignanily told me that I was no longer a good Japanese.

Ve cleaned up some before supper and them went to eat.

laj came over again and then while he continued to wokk on his
furniture I took a shower. Tomi worked on her curtaine and asked
me to fix wires for her just when I began working. I was a little
griped because she loafed all afternoon when I could have helped her
qnd now that ¥ setiled down to work she wented me to help her.

I wrote some leiters to clear the way for work tomorrow, I
then worked sexd ously on an outline for the course for Dr. Francis.




Jume 29, 1942

We got up at 10:30 when Koeo and Naj came inm.
I worked on the course outline all morning emd then had lunch,

I completed my course oulline amd ithen weni 1o see Ted Shigeno
about the forum. I saw Francis after a long wait with Naj end settled
the matiter of the orientation course. I got some time cardes to turn in
after a lot of red tapes We then went over to the canteen and got some
eoda and ice cream.

I got letters from home, Tenforan and Francis (a work order)
At supper the announcement was made that lNisei soldiers could not visit
their folks er friends in ihis campl I recalled DeWiti's proclamation
easing on Cermens and Italians and feli pretiy wad about this discrimie
nations Vhat the hell, if they can'tl itrust a lisei to ihe extent of
not letting him come into the Western Defense area, why did they
draft them to begin withy If a fellow is good enmough to fight in the
United States Arumy why waen't he givem the rights of axy ordinary
citizen? WVhat the helll What kind of a fasciet orgenizetion is the
Army anyway? I wondered what kind of a rat or imbecile DeWitt or
his advisors were. This certeinly was not in sgreement with the
principles for which our Army is supposed to be fighting.

Tomi cleaned my ears for wme and I thought of covering the rush
thet was supposed to be taking place at the wood piles. I heard that
the people were not allowed to take wood uniil § o'clock but thet the
wardens were nol girong enoughto keep the people away thet long.

The people were told to wait all dey eo that the workers could dump

wood in the piles and then when there was enough ready the people ¢

should all have an equal chance to grab their wood. Apparently some
people were too damm greedy and they objected to waiting. I thought
I should be there to cover the mob scenes

NaJ brought over some of his books and I brought some of wmine
back to the libmmry. We then went over 1o the Town Hall Forum orgami=
sation group. liiyaumotos were there and weny ex-Cal men and women
were there., The whole damn meeting ehded in a useless gquablle. There
were endless complaints about the whole thing not being democratie
and that it was being dictated. There was a squabble about the selec-
tion committee when a blackout of the camp stopped the meeting.

We welked home with the Miyamotos. The kide were yelling around.
Ve stopped at the Miyamotos and sat there for & while when their block
manager came by with candles. We ate some fruits and talked for @ while.

The Miyamotos told us about the Arty cemsorship of the mails.
Frank's sister worked in the P0,0 and told him eveything. Apparently
the camptain in charge didn't like Japenese and supported a corporal
who insisted on per® nklly throwing out letters writiem in Japanese.

I was griped as hell and wondered where our great democracy was.




Jume 30, 1942

Ve got up at 11130 and it was hot es hell. HNaj ceme in a we
listened to the news and discussed the army cemsorship. Both of us
were pretiy mad.

Ve went to lumch but didn't pet much to eal because the kids
we eet with grabbed ell the food and there were no seconds. Tomi
had the crampe and told us to leave her aloue so we left.

Ve weni 1o the Lumployment office and found a meb ov people waiting
for interviews. I got my assignment right sway in spite of the protest
of people who didn't know that I alweady had a job and just hed te
weke it official.

We wenl over o the canieen which was very crowded and bought some
sodas end caendy. On our way howe we italked to the Miyamotos. Tomi
was still sick bult we went to supper. Again all the food was taken
by the kids.

The three of us then took a walk over to the prohibited constiruction
zone to take a look at lipunt Shasta. We then went over to the Miyamato's
and played some of Nej's records. Ve talked about our projeet and

drew up some plans for research #intil 11:30. Ve tried to draw up
some divieion of labor tut didn't kmow how to do ite It was so damm

hot that we just couldn'ti sldep for & while.




July 1, 1942

It is becoming ppparent bty now that the first favorable impression
I had of Tule Lake was somewhat misteken. The place is not too good.
To begin with, it's hot as hell here. Furthermore, all the letters
are begng held up for an airmall note from Dr. Thomas indicates that
no mail has reached her as yet. On top of that, Shimbo tells us that
our room is too big and that we will have to move--this after Friendman's
promise that we could go shead eand fix up the place because we will be
here for the duration. Naj went out with a thermometer and found the
tempemature to be 108,

Tomi didn't feel too well either and refused to eat lumch. I
read Mead for a while and then left with Naj rather than argue with her.

We went ofer to the post office to check uppon the censorship.

We asked the postman and he first made out that nothing was wrong and
when he saw that we knew mere than he though ¢ we kenw aoubt the matter
he opened up and told us that the Army suddenly decided to cemsor all
mail and that the post office department had nothing to do with it.

We talked to some of the clerks and they told us that the whole thing
begen with a corporal Wilson. Wilson epparently had some grudge against
the Japsnenes and began cemsoring mail personally. Herwas supported

by the post-mistress (wife of one of the Army men here) who felt that
it was dangerous to have maps of the community going out, since the
maps showed the location of the soldier's barracks. Shirrell heard
about Wilson's throwing out leéters written and Japenese end finally
battled the matter out with Captain Patterson and won the argument.

The captain was not to be outdone and he appealed to higher authorities
and started the cemsorship.

We went over to the Provest Marshall's office to ask one of ‘the
men there what to write and whit we couldn't write. The man, who
helped in the cemsorship~~a corporal, didn't know what was 0.K. end
what wasn't.

We went over to see Jacoby and Shirrell and they were both hopping
mad, Shirrell pointed out that Friar was coming tomorrow end that
things might be settled soon. He said that in the meantime if we
wanted emything sent to Dr. Thomas he would be glad to send it for
us under government frank. "They wom't dare open our mail."

Nej snd I pooled our resources and called up Dr. Thomas in Berkeley.
The call cost $2.05 but more that that it was terribly hot in the booth.
Naj and I both sweated and sweated for three~fourths of an hour before
we got our connection. She said that the whole thing was terrible and
asked me to tell Frank to hold hie things.

Dr. Freneis, Ted Shigemo, Perry Saito and myself then got together
to select a steering committee for the forum. All sections and




Kibei in the audiences In the dancing group there were many young
people who spoke predominantly Japsnese. There were children eight

or nine yeare of age to a few Issei in the dancing group. There was

one humorpus old man in the crowd. Fumie Nishida wae damcing around
disguised es a thief with a towel around his face. The whole thing
reminded me of the Bon Odoris that went on in eenmtral Cglifornia before
the war. The phonograph, the costumes end the dances were exactly the
same., Apparently the war had not changed these tastes much.

Suddently the whole show sbopped and Shimbo announced the name
of enother song in terrible Japanese. Two attractive girls then went
up to the platform to demonstrate the new steps. They were rhythmic,
graceful and reminiscent of the real odori of Japan. They walked around
in a circle, the movementis of their hands and wrist symchrmoizing with
their body movements. By this time (9:30) it wae relatively cool.

It was quite apperent that the former religious significance in
this dance was now gone. I recalled the former practice of exchanging
bon deachers between Cortex and Lodi and the huge toournaments they
used to have in Stockton when the stopped the emtire traffic on Washing-
ton street. It was amusing to note that meny of the Nisei girle in
the ring of dancers were chewing gumeewhat a combination of cultural
traits! !

: We went home and ate french fries and drank some soda. Naj was
around until 11:30 talking about ome thing or another. We resolved
to keep accurate daily records.




religious and social groups were represented. Even political beliefs
were taken into consideration.

Just as I started walking out Tom Okabe pointed out lir. Schmoe
of the Friends Service Committee and we had a little telk. He did
not impress me as being particularly intelligent; in fact, he seemed
a bit slow and rude.

I got home in the heat. lrs. Jacoby dropped in for a moment to
gee Tomi. I then went over to Miyamoto's and discussed the matter of
censorship still further. He had unfortunately already sent his
program for hie fellowship. We walked over to the canteen for some
goda.

Supper was terrible. It was so hot in the mese halls that we
could hardly sit there without being soaked wet. It was announced
that Schmoe would address all students at 7:30. I took a shower with
Herno and then sat outside for a while reading Mead. We then all
walked over to mess hall 1920 to hear Schmoe. We got a ride up from
Jacoby.

The mess hall was hot es hell. There were about 150 people there=-

mostly very young. Few of them were from California, most of them

being from Sacramento J.Cs Schmoe explained that the militery knocked
off to a handful 300 colleges that opened to the Nisei. He stated

that the procedure of relocation would be slowe A few dumb questions
were asked and then Schmoe proceded to work out a camp committiee to
handle student relocation matters. He decided that he would take two
representatives from Wgshington, Oregon, Sacrahento and Cal, and asked
the people there to seleet their representatives.

I recalled as they were selecting personnel an amusing incident of
the afternoon and chuckddd to myself. While selecting the sterring
committee for the forum, I wented to get a liberal man in the bunch
because they were rredominantly torries and went around asking for the
name of the block manager that was a former C.I.0. man. I went over
to the housing division and asked some Nisei there if they knew of such
a2 block manager and the two almost jumped out of their seats. "C.I.0.!
What you want a C.I.0. in here for???* Boy the scary look on his face
was amusing. These rural rustics are really a sad bunche.

We talked to Jasoby about economic planning in this dump end he
was very vague about the whole thing. He laid down a series of alter-
natives which were not so chear cut but hinted that it might be im-
possible. He admitéed that planning was necessary here but shied away
from it.

As we walked back we saw an ondo. In block four the men had builg
a platform about 12 x 18 feet. A phonograph with a loudspeaker and
lights were blaring. Shimbo (a former A.F.L. organizer) was playing
the records. A ring of dengers, mostly amateurs were dancing around
the platform. Hundreds were wateching. There were Issei, Nisei and




July 25 1942

I got up at 9130 when a man came in to fix the ceiling near the
stove. He claimed that the firtex was too near the chimmey end that
there was a great danger of fires. I talked to Nej for a while about
the study and then went off tb lunch. Boy, it was hot as an oven in
the mess hall. :

I came home and copied the outline for the orientation course
I was preparing for Francis. At 3 I went out in the heat over to the
canteen with lNgj. We went over to 1808 to talk over relocation with
Schmoe. I talked to Jobo and Imaseki about the camp. They were rather
disgusted over the faet that they could meke mo headwsy against the
washington editor. When I asked them why they didn't improve the paper,
they replied that they couldn't do a damm thing because they were justi
not heard when they spoke up. "The rest of these Weshington guys are
0.Xes it's just thie dumb bastard Tanabe that gets us".

Frenk end Jimmy came along end we telked to Schmoe eome more. The
more I listed to Schmoe the more I got the impression that he was a
dope or & phony. He was really the first quaker I ever sew who talked
about "us® helping “"you." All the rest of them seem to say, "This is
our problem."

I stopped at the canteeen to buy some ice cream for Tomi and we
had some soda outside. While we were sitting there, Shimbo came with
an extra of the Hispateh and told us that there would be censorship..
He told us that only business letters and letters addressed to Army
camps would go through. All other letters were to be left unsealed
g0 thet the cemsor could go through the contents and then seal them.
We were not to put in any description of the camp; we were not to say
anything about our treatment here. He said to emphasize the faect that
we are guarded in order that public opinion will settle down. Hell.
%hat was there to talk about? If we didn't seel letters then the
gensors whouldn't bven have to mark the emvelop sealed.

The mess hall was hot as hell, Once more the kids eate all the
food before we got there. I sat around loefing until 8 because it
#as too hot. I sat on the porch in the twighlight end noticed the
trucks go by. As the glimmer of the sun gradually went down it seemed
that the life in the cmmp was still bugsing at full blast. Kids were
playing softball in the firebresks, emcitedly swearing at each other
with a heavy Japenese accent. Music flowed from ell directions--Japanese
songs and modern jasz. Mem in dirty shirts and open T-shirts; women
woluptuously showing off in closefitting slacks and dresses, girls in
paris and threes walking along the street. Seldom could one see a
couphd arm in arm. It was just cooling off and the people wanted to
take walks. The whole scene was reminiscent of the description of
lanzansar as boomtown in Life.




It's just like Hensanaar. The plage is a flat valley surrounded
by hille. With rows upon rows of houses covered with black tar-paper,
the smoke and the dust in the twilight pdanketed the distent hills like
fogs Up above the clouds seemed to have flat bottoms. As we looked
ahead, we noticed young people congregated in the firebreaks~-occasionally
people went by. Meross the way a kid derted by in etilts and one cam
see laundry hanging between the barracks.

We welit for a welk to the libarmry but were frustrated becguse
of a funeral. The library was full ofpeople and in the background we
could see food and several Japanese ministers.

Across the way we noticed a geme of horseshoes:. In the center
of a firebreak there was a sumo contest going on among a group of boye.
We walked over to Keso's but he wamn't home. We saw Kit on the way
home. He was surprised to hear that we had eny mosquitoes. He thought
life here would be better if we had better food.

As the sun went down the eky was beautiful, with golden etmecks
radiating through purple and megenta clouds. But the sun also exposed
the dust in the camp whieh hung like low foge

We saw Ted on the wey home end he hurriedly told us that the topic
for the first forum wbuld be: How can we combat antisNisei agitation?

We were bitten by mosquitoes on the way home. We noticed that

emell kids were playing jimtori. We ate end talked for a while and
disgussed the heat.




July 3, 1942

I was awakened at 10:30 by a girl who ceme to tell us of mail
in the postoffice. I washed up to get the mail but just as I gol back
Kendall Smith was waiting for me in.a cer to teke me to the bank about
the rubber check. He told me that I should see the new berber shop
that was being set up.

I nttlod the matter with the bank easy emough by telling the
men that the money had now been depositeds He said 0,X. I then went
sround to the barber shop behinde It was the empty part of the barrack
behind the bank end magazine section of the camnteen. Helf of the place
wes being used for barbers and the other half was for women's beattly
shopss I got some cokes and a pepers

Ve were rndim when I no't:lood an editordal in the Exminor with
a lot of red-baiting and got pretty mad about it. I was sore zbout
the dodos elmong the Japanese and among the Ceucasians who fell for
the dirty slung out by bastards libe Hearst.

It was & bit cocler today at lunch but mot very much. After
eating I started a letter to Joe Comard but was interrupted by a fellow
who claimed that Imageki sert him over to see me. His mame was Hiroshi
Sugasavara and said that he had years of training in photegraphy. He
had en interesting proposition. He wanied to take documentary films
of Tule Leke, something like 12,000,000 Black Voices. He said that
he was one of the people who toock the pictures of the trek o lanzanar
and he felt that if Re cdouldn't take the pictures he could set up
everything and let some caucasians do the shooting. Naj, Frank and
Ted came in and we all talked the matter over. While we were all
skeptical over the possibilities of the project getiing through, we
all agreed that it would be highly comstruective.

¥aj took him to the ad. tuilding but they came back soom with
bad news. No lucke In the meantime I had been showing Frank Charlie's
paper which Dr. Thomas had sent me.

After supper I worked on letters to Conard and Sproul. I washed
and shaved and went to the Student Relocation meeting called by Okabe.
I found that Schmoe had not made everything fair. Besides the two
people per district he had edded on two more Washingtonians whom he knew
himself. I didn't object to the people he added because they were both
swell kide, but I didn't like the guy himself. I presented my plan for
an orientation course for studente and they agreed to back it.

Frank and Michi came to the meeting and we all walked home together.
e ate and talked for a while and found out that Fremk was formerly in
the C.I.0« while he worked with the Alasken packers. Since he was on
one of the advisory boards, lej suspected that at one time he must have
been in the C.P., too. We were pleasantly surprised.

After they left, I read Mead until the wee hours of the morning.




July 4, 1942

Today is independence dey and epparently there was a very broad
program belng put on by the recreation department for celedration.
Ted came in aboul 10 to tell me of a 2 o'clock forum meeting. I
got out of bed at 11:40 and rushed over to lunch.

At lunch we were given sandwidches for supper. The cooks and
waiters wanted to take the might off so they gave us sandwideches and
fruits to eat at night. Furthermore, there wase programs going on
ell the time during the day.

I was reading the Dispateh and listening to the radio whem old
man Sakurade ceme in to collect a domation for block expenses for the
bon odori. He cléimed that while it was not the camp poliecy to ask
for donations, after ell since the girls who were teaching the residents
how to dance were not pdid recreaiion leaders we ought to give them
something. He asked for 10 cents or a nickel so I gave him that emount
and he looked so shocked that I remembered that emong the Japanese
it wae alwayes polite to give more then one is asked for. I gave the
bastard a quarter and he left grumbling about one thing or ancother.

At the forum meeting of Ted, Harry layeda, Walter Tsukamoto and
Waller and Dave Okada, Tsukamoto really guve himself awsyl He carefully

explained to Waller that there were some "Bolshevike"™ around in camp
who were just plotting to wreck everything. When I spoke up for sowe
action in alleviating the Nisei's distress by getting Caucasian support
rather than merely tlindly tagging along with the J.A.C.L. he felt
that such rash action would bring on further publie disfavor. He
felt that people whould $oin the J.A.C.L., pey their gues, and sit
tight and let them do the work. When Waller saw that there wae a dif-
ference of opinion, he was jubilant and esked thet we dispense with
the argument until the night of the forum and then fight it out there.
I wes disappointed in the celiber of Tsukemoto's arguments but happy
over the thought that now I would have a chance to tangle in publie
with a crook that I've disliked for years.

I went over to see Frank and he wes happy to heer that I was going
to fight it out with Teukamoto. We then telked about social theory
until 5:30 when Tomi, Naj, Frankg Michi and myself pooled all our
resources and had dimner together. It was our firet decent meal in
Tule Leke. We had fruit seled, sandwidches end coffee and tes.

Vie then went over to the sumo ring and sew the champtiomnship
boute. Some of the fellows were pretty good. The audience consisted
primerily of old men. Very few women were present. Shirrell was
speaking at the outdoor platform but be fore we got there he had
finished and the e¢rowd wes breaking up. Tomi spotted a fellow wealking
around who looked exactly like a Filipino and we all talked about
Pel.'s for some time,




Then Michi started telking about soékdlogists. Nej gladly joined
the conversation. Michi suggested, "Suppose Frank end Tom were in that
sumo conteet oppoeing each other. They would grab a hold of the other
and then say, 'look at the funry looking guy in the audience.' Then
they would begin to etudy the reaction of the asudience.”

We noticed that many Issel were walking in eme direction so we
followed them. We ended up on our firebreak where apparently there
was & shibal in the mess hell, There were so many people in there
that we just couldn't get in. People were peeking in through all
the windows. We met a Caucasian official with a Japanese sign on
his lapel. He said that he was the chief engineer on the project and
siad hd was extremely interested in everything thet was going omne
T noticed while we were talking that all advertising was in Japanese.

Near Hlock four in the firebreck we noticed that the ground had
be wet. The platform with the phonograph was now in the middle of
the firebreak. In this erowd awalting the beginning of the bom odori
there were many women and young childrem. A large number of young
gitls were present. More English was used but broken by Japanese.
The show didn't get started until 9:30. We all scattered and smooped
around to try to get reaciions but didn't succeeds The girl leader
seemed to be the only good dancer in the bunch. Wolves roamed around
and girls with thick layers of cosmetics walked around goyly looking
for company.

Moet of the dancers wore Japenese kimonos. BSome werse comic with
cowboy hats, ties, slacks, dresses, and towels. Bandamas were quite
common and men wers wearing women's dress and ukatas. One girl was
dancing in an evening gown.

Ve went home e.nd talked and danced to radio miiﬁ.- Vie were so
dman tired of bon that we wanted good music for & change.

About 12 we went outside to wash and noticed that the people were
gtill dancing around by themselves. There was no one in the audience
left but the people were seriously dancing away.




July 5, 1942

I got up at noon today and read the Pacific Citiszen for a while.
We then wandered over to the canteen to interview the salesgirl there
on what type of magasi nes were sold. I had noticed that the canteen
carried a rather extensive list of lurid detective magazines which
were full of stories of rape and prostitution. Koso had moticed ihat
too and had been quite disturbed about its He wanted to get the Counecil
- to outlaw its sales. The girls there said that they sold such maga~
zinee quite often to the oddest and most innocent looking people. Thypy
thought such people to be fummy. They would never come up and buy
the magazine alone but would always browse around for a long time
and then suddenly pick out the magazine, cover it with amother more
" respectible one and place the coins (already counted out) on the coun-
ter and leave in a great hurry.

I then went over to the libmmry and picked up a coupde of books
on nineteenth century history in the hopes of getiing some background
to the problem of racialism,

I went over to the Sakodas: George was home but Jim had gome to
a Buddhist meeting. I noticed that the woman next door, a fairly
young woman, was suckling her baby outside. She spoke entirely
Japaneses I concluded that she must be a recent arrivel from Japan

(rural Jepan) for Nisei girls would never reveal their breasts in
publiecs Apparently she had no inhibitions on the matter at all.

On the way home I dropped in at the mo« 2 canteen and got some
- oranges and sodas for Tomi. I was hot as hell mnd we needed someihing.

At supper I was pretty griped at the tremendous heat amd the lousy
foode On top of that the sloppy wey and the grdediness of the kids
in front of us irritated me.

I finished reading Mead and looked at the funny pepers for a while.
I returned several books to the libmary and noticed that at fellowship
meeting of young people was going on. We went outeide and watched a
softball game going on in the firebreak. The spectators were mostly
young. Girls were watching in groupe of four or six.

At howe I cleaned up amd reerranged my desk. We listened to a
program of Japanese atrocities, em anti~Yumesioto program and wondered
if American propegande was any better than that in the last war., I
wondered if there would be a reaction to this kind of thing when it's
all over. Ve ate some bread, spagetti, and salami.

We danced for a while and then I read Time until rather late.




July 6, 1942

I got up at 11 o'clocks After lunmch I walked over to the post
office for two puckages=-one of raisins from Kenny end snother of
cookies from Keiko. We then went over to the canteen with the Miya=
motos and talked about the study and a number of others things until
five. ! y ;

After supper, which was terrible, I looked through ihe catalog
of the Cgumpus Textbook Exchangee. ‘

We then went to the firet meeting of the coop group umder lr.
Elbersons Elberson is & swell guy but he's so dam slow in expressing
himgelf thet you wonder if he is all there. Elbersom stated that it
vas the fear of the administration that too many groups would get
excited about coops and he needed some kind of a training sehool.
fle stated that the group as it was would be the nucleus to teach the
others laters Questions after the lecture cemiered om the gquestion
of what is going to happen to the profits now being made by the cane
teen. The argument was reised that people ere now running out of
money and that they must try to.save for the post~war periods The
main end apparenily was to get goode at as low a cosi as possible.

No one secmed to care whether the primciples of ithe cooperatives went
into effect or nots Profit was the major worry and interest.

At home we all talked foa a while and then weni through the
book catelog again. UWe concluded that there were really very few
bocke there that were worth Wuying.

We felt a little guilty about not doing enough work for the study.
We were not very happy here and seemed to be loafing although there
wae sowething to do all the time. Somehow, even though we were doing
somethin g all the time wé did not seen to be getting anywhere., I
resolved that hereafter I ought to iry to get up earlier amd do a
1ittle works I has been so damn hot during the day thet a person
can't even think straight.




July 7, 1942

Tomi's snoring kept me awake for a while and about 1 in the mornirg
I noticed & strong light in the rooms I looked out and noticed that
there was & fire in the firebresk., I jumped out of bed and deshed to
the window and looke d outs A group of mem were very quietly and
methodicelly burning the remnants of the woodpile. Apparently this
wae all under the ccnirol of the fire depariment.

I got up about 10 and Nej came in to heckle me while I was dweseing.
I went over to get the wail and got griped as hell et Shimbe. He was
so d mun blunt vhen ke wented something but he would hardly reply when
we asked him for something,

At lunch Shimbe amnounced that there would be no more censorship.
I fivished writing some letter ¢ amd wenl over to the posi office, I
got my copy of the Polish Peasent emd sowe paper and notes from Dr.
Thomas.

On the way back I stoppedat the edmimistration building to see
Dre Francis. Thile I was weiting I noticed Waller Tsukemoto in con-
ference with administration men and wondered at the aitiitude thatl he
ehowed before at the corference on Saturdays. !e felt thai {hese dam
kedd didn't know what they were doing and the only reason they were
nice was that they were paid to be so. I doubted if he were sincere
in many of the thinge he says when bootlicking the keto.

In conference with Trancis we decided whait my work would be.
I was 1o work onm outlining the Orientation course for Nisei students
leaving the camp. I was to teach public spesking since there were
no other teachers with both experience and lechnical training. I
was to continue working with the forum committee and finally wee io
prepers a course in rage reletions. This looked to me like a preity
heavy schedule but she was quite firm on the point that we had to work
full time, )

Tomi was out for a while and Naj came im with some prunes. He
left a few and then took some over to Frank. I read Teggard for a

while and then looked at Benedict's Rage: Science and Politigs.

After supper I sat down to do some work. I worked until 11
writing 18 letters all at omce. I felt much blearer in conscience
for if some of these people replied I would have some documenis which
might be used. I took a shower and then read for a while before going
te bed.




July 8 1942

I got up et nine. A man ceme over at 7 to Eell us to put our
front 1light out. Apparently the ligtle bastard jusi couldn't mind
his own business and it bothered him to see the light on after the
sun came oute I wondered if he got up at 3:30 to put out his light
on times A bunch of rough-meck carpenters ceme in to fix our chimmey
and they left a mess. Tomi was mad as hell as they left all the
firtex for her to clean up.

I walksd over to the post office with Nej. On the wey we saw
Ted who wanted me to go to a meeting of the forum commitiee tonighi.
Vaj and I walked out to the fence and watched a train go by« This
was the first time I had seen the highway or the train since I came
here. I noticed the guard welking up and back with a huge gum. It
looked like a shotgun and a repeater.

I went over to the administration building end talked to Tsukamoto
for & while., He told me confidentially that he didn't trust the demn
keto here. They were a bunch of college men, nice guys bul {oo ineffi-
clents e also told me that he wouldn't eppak at the forum because
he "didn't think it wae the strategic iime 1o do so."

T talked to Jacoby for o moment and esked him when my parenis were
going to arrive. He didn't know end {old me 9o fill out an application
blank. I abked him if I could have access 1o the soclal welfare files
and he essured me that I eoulds I asked him if he would care io teash
the mental hygienme part of the orientation course and he said he would
if W, Fleming didn't went to do it.

In front I noticed e few pecple had come in from lerceds. lir.
Smith had apparemtly driven out to Hlemmath Falls to meel them and
héd driven them in himself.

Ve went over to the canteen with Tomi and she vas telling ue of
Mrs., Sakurada's expleanation of why the women's toilets were clogged--
the city girls had put kotex ine "City people have no more sense”.
It seemdd much more likely that country girls accustomed to outhouses
had done the trick.

After lunch we went over to the post office and were told that
there was no more censbrship. We dropped by the Jacoby's and lirs.
Jacoby was very busy. I borrowed a copy of Deep South. After coming
home I recd Bemediet for a while, end talked.

We had a huge betch of weil today--from Tally, Reiko, Kikuchi
end otherss I read ell the mail and the Totalizer and the Deipatch
while Tomi ironed.

The eteering committee meeting of the forum was very interesing.
I leerned that the point of imterest in the colony wiis on the subject
of having uniform wage pdlicy. People wanted no differentiation zade




petween the colonists. The objection was apparemtily or ellegedly not
due to the money imvolved but to the idea of stratification. 0ld

men objected to being reated lower then young punkk simply because they
heppened to go to college. There was apparently some discussion of

the colomiste getting together and pooling all their resources and then
distributing them eqaully among themselves. Apparently the biggest
kick came from those getting the lover wages. Some of the people getiing
more money apparently didm®t like the idea of being hated by the others.
Mr. Shirei raised the question of the wisdom of having e discussion on
money metters since it was a Jepanese cultural treit not to discuss
money. Meny issei worked just to kill iime and didn't give a dana
about wages. They just didm't like the idea of Dbeing relegated to a
relatively lower status.

T also found out why Tsukameto did mot wemt to speak in the forum.
He was evidently in dubch with the Issei beceuse of his churging high
foee before evacuation and then for his high handed attitude while in
wallerge. Apperently he and his cronies had acted like big shots in
vallerga end had been given memy privileges which the others resented.

vhen I returned I found Tomi etill rionings I typed out the
request for the tremefer of ny parents and wrote a leiter lo dad
telling him whei to efgn when it came to him in Etockion. We then
al some soup and crackerss

We heard ever the radio thet DeWitt had denled govermor COlson's
request for Jepenese labor to help harvest ihe cropse. Dewitt claimed
that the evacuation wac made because of militery rnecessity amd that
the shortage of labor was unfortunate bul the military necessity still
exisgted,

I stayed up and wrole wore letiers until 2 in the wornings




July 9, 1942

I woke up at 19 when Koso ceme in. We talked about Dre Iki and
Teukamoto and his croniess He told us why they were in the diefaver
of the Wallerga groups. Apparently they hed been given cherge of the
Wallerga center and they hed abused their rights. They got together
often to have sukiyaki in the hospital while the others were $ating
poor foods They hospitael had beem rum poorly and the people had not
been ireated very carefully. Apperetbly there wee some graft involved
because most of his friends were given soft jobs in which they did
nothing but smoke big eigars. All this hed apparently given rise to
a greet deal of resentbent--so wuch that ths boys who were hendling
beggege kicked Dr. Iki's sultceses and ruined some of his supplies
when they ceme here. Dr. Iki apparently was in so much disrepute
that Bbeand his family had to eat in e mess hall two blocks away.

After lunch I reaé Denediet for a while and then wert io the post
office and to the admimistration to hand in oy request for uy pareuts®
transfer. liaj had apparently gotéém an 0.X, from Shirrell for his
plan for drawing up a master plan for production here.

Ve waled over to the barber shep to look arounde I noticed that
there were five standard berber chairs, four other ones end several
extras. The sanitetion fecilities were limited btut apparently they
did have some. Women were also working as barbers but we were told
that they vwere all licensed. We were iold that the stamiard hariculte=
sit on the chalr and let the berber do anything--would be 20 cents.

If on the other hand, if the customer wanted his hair cult in a special
way the charge was thirty cents.

We went over to the canteen end noticed a whols row of little
tots sitting there reeading the fumny books.

We wealked over to the placement office and noticed a huge "Help
Wanted" sign in the front btut only four or five people hanging around.

Ve stopped in & Frenks and itelked for a while. Apparently there
hed been a strike over at bloek 26 beceuse of dome disagreement over
the food there.

At supper the food was so lousy that I just walked out without
eating. I went over to the library to get some boocks. I then welked
over io the mugazine committee and promised Jobo that I would write
an articule for him. We say Ruby and talked for a while.

At home we ate sowme spaghetti and Naj brought some coffee. Ve
talked about marriuge, which Naj for some reason seemed to be worried
about.




July 10, 1942

Up et all and hurry to lunch., Lunch was ilerrible egain tloday and
I can' see how we're going to siand it much lomger. Naj is working on
his planning.

Tomi and I dropped in at the Liyamotos and talked all aftermoon
about how lousy this damn camp was. Ve then walked over to the canteen

and bought pocket~book editions of Lost Horison and Fhe Cood Derth.

Supper was a little better but not much. Tomi and Nej went to the
coope class but I went over to the libmary and red ithe articule about
Jepenese eeters in the llatioms I weni home and worked on bibliography.

laj, Tomi, and the liyemotos came over and we vhile away our time.




July 11, 1942

I got up &t 10« Tomi had to get up much earlier to help the
women off the house blean the women's cans. Toul and Naj were busily
reading Lost liorizon end Jood Barth se I went over to sce Francis. ©She
told me to put 8 hours a day on my pime cards for the time peing. "Peo=
ple want to work but it ism t theie felt if nothing is there fore them
to do«" ©She gave me hell for letiing the orientation course drag on but
agreed to let me begin uy public speaking course. I talked to Rev.
Klireda who wanied special voice lesséns and concluded that he had
better see a doctor before he tried anything fumny,.

We were late to lunch and the kide we eat with head already finished
and gone. Since the food was American style there wae quite a bit left.
Apperently they don't like Americen foode

Ve were siiting in the living room and who should come in but the
Hisalomis from Mariposa. They came in this morning from the while sone.
We talked about dhe camp and they didn't seem to like the place too
muchs Koy was all set for work but Keiko wanted ic seitle all kinds
of things first.

I went over to the recreation hall {ov arrange for a room for class.
I was given room 2808 from July 16 when I would regisier the students.
Ve agreed tc have classes every londsy and Thursday from 7 o'cleck.
I talked o Iumazeki and he agreed to pul the announcement in the paper.

After supper we went over io the Hisatomis and noliced that ihe
newer burracks had more rooms. . There was only ore building for the
latrines and for lauindry end ironing. I walked over ito Jim's place
to tell him of toworrows' meeiing with Jacoiy. I then went over to
Koso's for the book calalog that I bad lent him. On the way home I
saw Fumiko Teira. CEhe spoke of her purenie. They had no sons and no
meane of supports CShe said that she was expeciing in Novemeber. Che
also poinmted out that she was very lomely because shere werc no friends
in camp. Che passed on two rumorss (1) there is u curfew at 10 for
ell women in Tule Lake and (2) Tule Lake ies only a temporary centers

On the way home I noticed a community einging group in the fire=
break. I went home and thought for o while about ihe sppech I was to
auke at the forum Mondsy. If Tsukamoto were to speak I would be ready
for anything he said but since ha wasn'i I thought I may as well
prepare a straight telk.




July 123, 1942

I got up at 11130 when Nej came in. Lunch was lousy as usuale
I went over to the certeen with Tomi to gel some soda and found some
Continentel soup there. We bought some soup, funnles and a copy of
Life and Time and went home. Ve were reading.when Jim came in.
Fremk came over end we all went over 1o Jucoby's but he wasn't home.
Urs. Jacoby let us uee itheir car end we wenl over to 1808 %o loock for
hime We mingled with a group there getling ready 1o go for a hike in
the hills. They were all prepared with lunch and with sticks to kill
rattlers.

We wert over to Jecoby's wnd talked over the study. Apparently
orders had come in from the Regional 0ffice to read over the material
that we were sending out. Coverly made in clear that it wasn't cen-
sorship but Jacoby was genuinely concerned. He said that Chirrell
wae pretiy griped aboul the whole thing tooe Jazcoly thought that he
ought 1o look over the material jusi as a sociologisi rather than
a8 a project worker. We felt thatl we didn't give a damn if either he
or Shirrell eaw what we went out since it didn'tl meke muck difference

10 us anyway.

We got home and found the Hisatomis there. liaj and I weni to take
a cshower and we then had supper with the Hisatowmis at block 42. The
food there wae really goodes lNo elop llke thal in our places Ve went
over o their place and italked thinmge over uniil about 8. We then
walked over to ithe Record Concert being put om by ilfes Uiyamoto.

On our way, leiko spotted Jacoby atl the Wardem's building and she
had e litile talk with himl Jis we welked across the firebresk we saw
the first gengfight we have run intc here.

Apparently there had been some difference of oplnion in & baseball
geme. Two of the fellows were preily sore at each other eand started
10 swings The others iried {o stop them but etill others slarted fighting
with those trying to stop the fights It ended up in & mess scramble.
One fellow with a big siick kept rumning arocund cerefully selecting.
people to hit over the head. The old people there and some girls
dashed in to siop the trouble end the girls were caught in the meelee.
They etarted screaming in terror put the mess went on unabated. The
whoke mess including the two girls tumbled through the dust at the
corner near the firebreakj bets swung &nd cries were heard. There
were about fifteen in the struggle when the wardens came running ccpuss
the firebresak. Jacoby came over with a ecar and the whole thing broke
up es if by magiec and no one knew anythings As soon as Jacoby came
everyone clamped up and went home, The old pepple muttered in Jepanese
thet the whole thing wae a disgrace ito the Japenese. The others said
nothing. Yo one was sein ously hurt.

We walked across the firebreak to the mess hall only to find a
sign on the door, "Don't go in until the record is finished." When
we got in we noticed that there were about 80 people there mostly
Nisei. Most of them were dressed respectablyw-suits, ties, end some
women wore heels.




We went home with the Hisatomis, Naj and the Miyamotos. We had
some soup and telked about all kinds of thinge. We talked ebout farm
life in California among the Japanese end about she labor situation--
ebout the Filipinos, the Yexicans and the keto.

I went out 1o vwabh up about midnight and noticed ihat the sentiries
in the watchtowers now had spotlights to search the community. They
seemed to be amusing themselves by [lashing it on all over the pluce.

We drank some tea and I worked on ay speech for the forum for
some time. '

I then read Time for a while and Tomi read Losil Horiszom. Ve
turned in about 2130.




July 13, 1942

I got up at 10 but Tomi stayed in bed until noom. We gol plenty
of mail todey, letters from Dr. Thouas, Ben and Tally indicating that
some of them might go to Cila. Ve also had the good news thet the
University Library agreed to send us any books that we yanted.

The lunch was again lousy. The Hisalomls came over end we all
went {0 the centeens Key bravely gol a haircult and we went over to
the library. We looked over the Sears and Ward catalogues ithere.

At three there was a meeting of all the forum speakers. Fergueson,
the regional attorney of the W.R.A.y Waller, Mayeda end Okada were
there. TVeatalked over what we were going to say. Fergusson eeemed
like & swell guy convinced thail eivil liberties should be ppeserved.

He said he doubled if the atlempls to take away the Nisei citizeuship
would succeed but indicated that if the WeReds found the suii in the
supreme court it would fighl to the flnish io proteect the rights of
the Hisei, He sald that the W, R.As did not enter the Sam Franciseo
case because they didn't want to add dignity by bringing in a govern=-
mentel ageney in o cheap case in the lower courtse

We were eating some crackers vhen Ufs. Hulley cawe in to ask
Tomi a favor. Apperemily there was a liisel woman having maritel woes.
the claimed that her paremls were separaied and ihat her husband
by baiskakunic marriocge “eat her up. She wanied her babies left with
him but wanted to get eway from hims Che claimed that her husband--
e Yibei--was "Japan trained". lirs. Halley poinied oul thul there were
conflicting tales from both sidess Che said that the woman's husband
seemd like a perfectly decent man. Che also pointed oul that the
family went by two nemes and thel the vomen had had an affedr with one
of the soldiers in larysville (who was now being comrt martialed).

She cleimed that the husband flirted with other women and that there=
fore she was jJustified in her action. Mre. Halley and Jacoly were
perplexed as to whet to do so they selecied Tomi as the persomn to go
live with her for a few nights and then find oul whal she was really
like.

Supper was fairly good for a change--frieddrice. After supper
Tomi was worried about living with a crasy woman and decided not to
g0« i

I took e shower and changed my closes and went to the Forum.
It was cold up on the plaiform and all of the speakers and Mr.
Shirrell, vho was aleo there, were shivering all the way through
the progreme The program went over smoothly and everyoue seemed
pleaseds Most of the questions were directed to Lr. Fergusson who
amgwered many of the stupid questions fery patlently.

We went home with the Miyamotos and the Hisatomis. Nej end
Tom Ckabe were already there walting for us. Mre. Halley vas also




there waiting to teke Tomi over to¢ see the women. Touwl gent over to
the place to see &he woman and then cameé home. She said the women
was evidently fiightened or ashamed because she just hid her head
and would mot espeak to her.

We all ale crackers, salami and cheece and talked cbout ihe forum
and the orazy womene Irank was pleased at the reaction of the people
- attending the forum tc some of the remarks mede by the speeker.

At 11:30 everyone left and we had cokee znd read the pejers




July 14y 1942

I got up at 9. Tomi was already gome to stay with the woman.
I got & letter from the library with a list of 18 books that I had
requesteds I had just sent Dre Thomas a list of ihe booke that I
wag thinking of possibly buying and the library was sending me the
wholw works. I didn't need wany of the books for monthe yet.

I ate alunch 211 alone today and went howe to find Shiro Tokuno
and Naj there waiting for me, DBefore long Tomi and the woman came overs
che was & rather queer looking individual who was apparently rather
atiractive et ome time. She seemed to be very semsitive and embaras-
sed and she didn't say much, We talked about all kinds of things bug
she merely liestened politely and didn't say anything.

Vomi and the wouen went over ito the administretlon tuilding and
we wenlt over to see Irank and we discussed books &nd the foruw and
the odd woman until four o'clock. We then went over io Naj's place
but mo lej. I got a notice from Chimbo that a puckage had arrived
for me and I rushed over to the post office for il with Tomi.

The booke were trribly heavy and I jusi didn't know how I vas
going to get the demn thing home. Tomi hailed & truck and we got
a ride. '

We then went over itc mess hall 26 (where they had the strike)
to eat with the forum committee. It .wes a feredwwll party for Mr.
Fergusson. Ve all discuseed the future oi the llisei. The forum
comnittee and ir. And lirse Weller were thers. Ve talked about publie
opinion and the traits of the lliseis Sinece I had been ralher frank
in ay discuesion Ur. Shirai came up to me aftervards end told me not
to trust any governueni vmne

When we gol home we found Naj, ihe Hisalomie and the Uiyemotos
in to quiz Tomi about the wouan. OSince there were 0 meny people there,
Frenk anc Michi left.

Ve played cards and Tonl end I won almost everything. All left
at 11, Tomi continued to pley cards while I locked over some of ihe
books we gol this morning from the lilmary.




July 15, 1942

I got up at 10 end etarted work on my bibliogrephy on race.
Tomi went to the canteen and I was just coming out of the latrine
vhen Virginia jumped out from the corner and yelled at we. I was
really surpiced to see her. We went over to the car end found Morion,
his wife, VeIl and D.S. We all went over to the centeen after Tomi
and then went over to the Sakodas. Jimmy wasn't home. We saw Naj
gnd when Virginia rem up and hugged him I wondered what the neighbor
womsn who stood gasping there was thinking to herself.

Linch wae good for a change. After lunch the group came over
and the Cakodas, Miyamotce, Nlisatomis and ¥osoc ceme in. Ve talked
on and on over all kinds of things and didn't get anywhere. I wes
rathor disappointed over ihe whole thing because we didn't accomplish
a dexm thing.

Supper wasn't 8o good and I developed a headache. I goi some
letiers ffom Doi and home, I felt very badly all evening. The five
came over agaln but we didn't get very far because they had to leave
camp by eight o'elock. We discussed the censhorship and were griped
about the "dictator" Francis.

‘ Everyone left excapt Frank and Michi and we discussed Mrs. Yoshida,
the woman with whom Tomi had to live. Apparently she was mancragye.

She just wanted to be cuddled. Tomisaid that she read nothing but
romances and saw movies extensively. Her mind wanders considerablys
she seems to have delusions of gramdeer, flights to phantasy, and

much suspicion of everyone, It seemed very much like an incipient

case of paranoid schizophrenia.

The Miyamotos left rather early. I still had a terrific headache.
Tomi fixed some hot soup. It was railning outside and we went to bed
about 11,




July 16, 1942

It seems as though my work is beginning to pile up. I got up at
9s Frenk, lej, Keiko ceme in ut all left soon. Freank, Morton,
Urs. Crodsins, Virginia end W.I. ceme in. W.I. stayed behind and
the reet of us walked over to 2508 to see Michi teach. We went through
the wood shopy inspeeted the verloue poerches, the library, the newspaper.

At the office of the Dispathe we had our usual dissgreeable imcident.
Virginei esked Frank Tanabe for a subscription to the paper and the
dope gave the usual vague replyes e told her to see Coss or somebody
else and wouldn't pay much attention to her request. Tamabe certainly
is & queer and e dumb bestard. I telked to Immgeki and he immediately
agreed to send all the papere end pey ithe posiage as well.

We walked over to the muesic building but no Michi. On the way
home I noticed a girl practiming pitching softball very earnestly.
The whole thing remainded me of the seriowmness with which the Nisel
{ook sporte. Ve also noticed emell boys playing with paper planes.

Ve stopped at Frenks and then went home. DS, and Jinm were waiting
for us. They ate togother and discussed things. We all separated for
lunch. We had mayonaise and apparently most of the people never used
it before because they didn't know what to do with it. Shisbo announced
e coop meeting for the bleck.

ifter lunch the Wiyamolos, and Jim came in. Morton and Virginia
came back from Tule Lake where they went to interview some of the
American Legrion dopes sans liorton's glasses. We talked all aftermocon
about nothing in particuler end wested much valuable time, Everyone
lefi at four.

The Miyamotos, lgj, Towi anéd I left for the canteen. lichi and
Tomi were very griped about the salesgirle there. They just ppyed
atienilion to the boys and dic not wait on the cusitomers. On the way
home we etopped for a while at Frank's and then hed to go to supper.

Naj went tc e coop wmigss; Tomi and Michi went to hear Shirrell
addirees some newcomersj Frank went to interview for the recreation
staffy Jimmy went to a gripe session of records office workers. I
had to go take signups for wy speech cless. What a sad casel Only
pix signed up. FRev, Kurada wanted speciallessions. I came home with
the Hisatlomis and waited. lia] ceme in, but no Tomi or Michi. NejJ
was all excited about girle and boys after damces., Apparently the
women had kicked at the coop mig. Rumor: There are 400 pregnancy
cases in the camp. The women on block four wanted to have their own
dances and to weke them invitational. Koso came in with a girl. He
felt that punitive measures should be taken and stuted that Japanese
had a higher moral standard then Americams. Keiko challenged the point.

A1l left at 10t15. I went to Frank'e and found Toml and Michi.
We discussed the problem and a new job until 11 and came home. Naj wes
ptill there working on his plan for the farm. I wrote until 12:15.




July 17, 1942

I got up at 10330 end went over to see Frank. It was too late
to see Shirrell und we talked about the various problems in the camp.

We had fish for lunch end I noticed that the kids we eat with were
erazy about it. I hate fish,

I looked over some of my mew bocks and typed some letters until
1:30 and then went over to Framk's. We went over to the ad. building,
but Shirrell wasn't there. We went home and talked about the possi=~
bilities of running seminars among ourselves. We thought of getting
Jacoby end Elberson in. ,

At three wo went over to see Shirrell. He was very receptive to
the idec of having socizl snelysts end celled in Gess. The red-iape
involved in starting e new division was terrific. We tried to see
Jacoby to avoid the red tape but he was busy as usual.

We started walking over to 1808 and were péiked up on the way by
ir. Modgett of the canteen mansgement. He itald us that the canteen
wae ptarted on wholesalers' credit and paid by by Japunese momey
within half the time allowed, We werted the Jupenese to rum the store
under Caucasian supervision. He told us that they sold 700 copies
of Life weekly.

Ve went over to 1808 to look for Jacoby. While we were waiting
for him to finieh his interview I talked to Teketa to see what he wase
likes I talked to bhim on the pretense that I hed come troutle with the
W.CeCoAs He seemed feirly intelligent. I talked to Ted Shigemo. He
told me thai T spoke so fast at the forum thetthe stemogrephers couldn't
keep up with me., He inferred that I had memorized my espeech and I
felt hurt at the idea. The recreationel sectretery told me thet I
would have to change the room in which I was to have class because some
Issel in the bloek had demanded & room to play go and had kicked out
everyone else. lir. Waller had given them the room for good se I had
fo move too. I bhanded im ny firet time card.

Ted end Frank were discussing the respomsibility of the rec. dept.
for keeping down sex difficulties. I talked to & fellow who calimed
he wert to Cel and wanted to teke public.spesking. I don't like guys
to take a years' course in speech amd think they know everything. I
wished that he didn't sigr up for the coursze.

¥e fainally saw Jacoby and his reaction to Framk's suggestion was
that he would think the matter over until Sunday emnd them would give
us the answer. We saw Cose and he gave us a ride home in his car.
He told us that he wanted to make the Dispateh a daily ppper. He also
said that he could get cheaper paper and make the paper bigger. *‘e
thought that by meking the peper a daily he could give the kids more
experience in newspaper work and it would be more tham just a bulletin

board.




I got home just in time for supper. Tomi was still henging up her
washe I got a very pleasant leiter from Amy from Santa Anita and &
terrible one from Tomi's sister Mary. She sent a sobbing letter
demanding that the whole Harano femily wanted to get togetlher regardless
of how Tomi felt about the matter and said that we would have to abide
by the wishes of the whole group. She therefore demanded that we
immediately ask for the trapnsfer af all the relatives--eleven farilies--
gome of whom I had never heard of beforel!! I was mad as hell when
I remembered how opposed they hed all been to Tomi and me getting
zarried. I guese now that the knot was tied they thought they may as
well exploit the tie. It made me think of Nej's werning about supporting
relatives afier the war. He had pointed out that I way have a job
after the war and if they don't I msy have to support the whole damm
bunch regerdless of whether I want to or mot, "for the good of the group."
It made me sore and sick.

We then got a notige from the housing divieion to move to a smaller
rooms I got mad as hell beeause Trienduan himeelf had told us we wouldn't
have to move when we came here. When he gave us a large room we askd
nim 1f we would have to move later and he assured we that we wouldn't.
Hell, if he had told us yes, we would have moved before establishdng
all cornections on mails and before fixing up the house, All our walle,
desk, and closet were neiled into the walle. It would be impossible
to move the things. I got mad as hell at Shimbo for not minding his
own damn bud ness. Why did they put us here in the first place?

Tomi gave me & hatreut outside and we got jeers from people
goirg by in twucks.

We attended a meeting of the U.C. club which turned out to be
rether interesting. Jobo Nakemura was the chairmen for the evening.
He did rather poorly but passed. We sang some @al songs and then
the speakers for the evening were introducted--the "older alummi®“.
The first speaker wase Dr. Iki.

Dr. Iki felt that we should not be bitter about the life in
camp. He pointed out that we should not raise a fuss about the
infringement of our e¢ivil rights, and pointed out that to argue
about the citizenship iesue was childish and silly. “The whole
forum the other night wes silly. We should not make a fuss about
it beesuse the people on the outside will organize to oppose us.”
"Don't feel sorry for yourselves. There sre lots of nute in the
camp, but don't meke fun of them." "We must not think of monetary
returng ht in terms of service. Unless you watch yourselves, you
will revert to savages." He referred to rowdiism and asked that
at least the "educsted” like those im the Cel Club should retain
some of the niceties of life.

Walter Tsukamoto wes the second speaker. He begen, "I expected
a vacotion when the evecustion, but it hes not turmed out that way.
I suppose one of the basic truths is that those who are 'endowed'
are alweye called upon to take the leadership. I have regreted that




T was selected for the Council, but I am glad now." He went on and
talked at great length end pointed out the great service that the
JehsCols was performing and pleaded for its support.

Sumio Miyemoto got up and made a few remarks. He was followed
by Jun Miyegewa. We then sang and gave some yells, Bill Fujii and
the lekagawa sisters sang a fow eongs and then we heard some reports
on the Cal Club babeball team. Nas Sekada then took change of ths
business menting and explained to ue that lre. Smith was supposed to
speak but couldn't come. Wethen had nominations and elections which
were a farce. Towi was elected secretary. We closed the mseting with
the singing of all hall.

Naj, Keiko, Tomi and I then dropped over to the Miyamotos. Michi
was home alone for Frank wae out interviewing. Ve tensed NoJ about
marriage and then talked about the events of the evening. We discussed
the motives of men like Tsukamoto and Iki as soon as Frank came in.

We came home and killad mbsquitoes until rather late in the evening.




July 18, 1942

to the administration building to
When I told him that we had settldd
: s but that he was asking couples to
voluntarily go to smaller rooms to make room for those requesting
transfers from other centers. He said that since our parents are
coming anyway; it would be all right for us to keep the room. Hell,
he seemed to think that I was seeking special privileges simple because
we were here on the study.

On the way home I saw Framk, Michi, and Naj. We went over to
Jacoby's to get some records for the concers Sunday, and Urs. Jacoby
gave all of us cherries.

lunch was pretty good for a change.

I typed some letters and was mad as hell at the slowness of the
miils around here. I them finished the article Jobo had asked for
snd tock it over to 1808 to hand in, I also turned in my time card.
I took a shower and then typed more letters. Naj finally came in
with the mail. I got a letter from the book store quoting prices
of everything except the most important books.

Supper was pretily good again. I wrote a long letter to Sat telling
him how impossible it was to get 11 families here and asked him to

explain to Mary that the government did not accept her conception of
a family, We them killed mosquitoes for & while. We killed dozens
tut still could not exterminate them.

At 9, we went over to see the bon odori with Naj. It was quite
an impressive show but we came home thoroughly disgusted with the
Japanese atmosphere. We were wondering what would happen to the Nisei
if they stuck around a place like this.

Xt home we killed more mosquitoes. We drank some soup and then
ligtened to the radios I claseified my bibliography and then listemed
to Naj bewakl about women. I recited some poems at random and Naj
was surprisingly familiar with most of them. We talked to him about
Kiyo for a while and in the meantime Tomi wrote her a letter asking
her if she loved him. Naj tried half-heartedly to get the letter
awvay from her and threatened all kinde of things tut left saying he
would have nightmares. We were surprised at the breadth of Naj's
background and his willinghess to admit that he cared for Kiyo.




July 18, 1942

I got up at 11130, just in time for lumch. After lumch I thought
about books and decided what to buy. Naj came in end we went over to
Frank's place. We all went over to Jacoby's. Ve met.Dr. and krs.
Carson, Mr, and lMrs. Elberson, lrs. Herkness, and liise Creham. Ve
all telked for m while end them they left to play records.

We talked to Jacoby about the job of social emalysét and he sent
us over to see Fheming, He offered us jobs as “trouble shooters"
in the commmity services division. We left with the job in mind.

I stopped for a minute to see Michi emd then went home., Ve whiled
afay our time after supper and them went over to the music conmcert.
Jim wae there with Kiyo Aira and seemed rather interested. We started
wondering if he were observing her or whbther we had better observe
him to see the genesis of romange.

The sudience, which was seattered sparcely throughout the mess
hall, comsisted of several distinct groups. First, there vere 19 rowdy
boys sitting together and makingpplemty of noise and passes at pretiy
girles.s In another section there were 13 girls eitting together very
quiet}y. The Sakodas and their friends formed another group; while
the two Nakegewa girls and their friende formed amother. There were

a few couples and girls seattered here end there in the hall. The
P.As system had not arrived and Fremk had to dash after it. Ceorge
Sakoda brought over his radio amd kept the crowd emtertained until
the louspeaker showed up. The program findlly began at 9:20.

At 10310 the show ended and we went down the fire bresk to see
shat the excitement out there was all abouts There was another bom
odori show, We listenmed to a harmonie player play Japanese style,
and noticed that the amnouncer spoke both in Japanese end in English.
There were girls om the platform damcing. Fumie Nishide seemed to
have much @ifficulty in getting up on the platform in spite of the
fact that he was dressed like a girl.

We went home with Naj. We ate some salami, cheese, crackers and
drenk tea.end soda. We listened to the redioy read the fummies and
played cards.




July 20, 19042

I got up at 7f40 to keep an sppointment to see Fleming and Shirrell
at 8. We went over to the ad. building but Shirrell was not there.
Frank and I then went out to the fence to wateh tbe people from Pinedale
come ins We stood there for 25 minutes watching and were amazed at
the efficiency with which they all worked. The only hitch was a damn
soldier who came by to tell us to get off the femce. The damn bastardl
In a vay I felt that aome Japemese could not be blamed for their great
hatred of white people. If I didn't know so many white people who were
decent I would draw my conclusions from my few contacte with skunke
like these soldiers too.

Frank had a tootheche s0 he went directly to the hospitals I
went home and typed some letters: Tomi was mad as hell at Shimbo for
walking in and taking the cots while she was ablpep.

We had fish for lunch and that didn't make us feel any better.
We didn't eat much and went over to Frank's but he waen't home., We
went over to the ad. building to see Jacoby about the transfer of our
perente. We sew Fleming about the jJob for Frank amd me..

I went back to Framks and he looked sicks He seid he had a wisdom
tooth Pulled out and seemed worried about lichi. Apparently Michi had
some ear troble whkich would be terrible for her as a musician. She
eeme back presently, however, beaming over. She had jusi had some
dirt in her eare and had to have it cleaned.

I then went over to see Dr. Frﬁhtoukhoruboutnfk. She
paid it would be all right for me teo transfer to Fddming if I eo
desired and to teach om a voluntary basis if I wished.

I then went over to 1808 on a commisary truck. I saw Koso and
Imaseki about an educational advieory bourd and sought some names of
people whom they might suggest for it I learned that since the school
building could nmot be up by September they were plamming to use eome
of the empty barracke for school.

In the mail I got a letter of appreciation from all the people
of barrack 16 in Teanforam. I felt very flattered and pleased.

I learned that the artécle I had writtem for the Temp was rejected
because my demands for civil liberties were thought by the editor to
be too "touchy®. I felt like kicking Jobo's assj I just couldn't
figure out what was wrong with the dope.

Supper vas terrible againe-Japanese foodi I took a shower with
Faj and them rushed over to 2808 to gell students of the change in room
of our class, Ve met at 8 at #4508 and had class for the firet time,.
The group was pretty fiar end showed much promise. At least they were
all willing.

I went home with Keiko, Tomi, Na}, end Kay end we ate and talked
about the war and Kiyo. Naj was in bad shape.




July 21, 1942

It wes hot as hell today. It got as hot as it has ever been.
I got up at 10330 Tomi was already up and washing. Nej came in with
news on the Endo case. The case contesting the right of the Army to
detain Nisei sounded very encouraging. We had a modified form of chow
mein for lunch and it was lousy.

Over at the wash room, I moticed that men taking showers had begun
to develop sertain ways of behaving. lost men were wearing geta that
they had made themselves. They stopped the water while washing
themselves and while seaping and rubbing, and turned on the water again
on when they wamted to get the seap off. It seems that eithée there
is a desire on the part of the men to save hot water or else ihe old
Japanese custom of using water only to wash off the soap was surviving
in the shower room.

We got a Sears Roobuck sales catalog and some of the things in
it seemed prettygeod. Boy was I surprised whem I got a check from the
WeCaCoAolBtts22it I could hardly believe that those low-lifers were
honeste Tomi and I figured out our expemses and found that we had
epent $89.89 since May 1 when we evacuate I guess life in camp
ien't quite so cheap as many people seem to t « About half of
the eost went for food, but the rest was spent in getiing things that
we needed since we had nothing wha « GSome of the money was
spent on books.

found Michi home alome. Frank w

Tomi and Keiko came in about 3

the girls what they wanted her

The girls wanted fremch bread,

Jacoby offereed to let them use the kitehen.
p.0° and found some books from the book »

Just before dimmer I felt a little sick. Ve had roast beefor for
dinner but I still didn't feel so goods Key and Keiko came over and
Kay made a cheir out of our serap lumber. Frank and Naj came over and
started kidding eash others I took & shower emd themn went to a meeting
of the Studnet Relocation Committes. It was quite apparent from the
nature of the questions raised that some of the Niseli did mot truet any
Caucasians. I walked home with some of the committee members.

At homs, I found Nej end Tomi sitting outeide to escape the heat.
Some kids were playing fodtball in the firebreak. Little brats were
throving around a softball end raising much dust. We shh for a while
looking at one of the few beautiful things here=-the sky. The soft

powdery purple tinged with streake of pink were really beautiful. We
wondered if there were an artist in camp, ®#ince no one had a camera.

Tomi went to bed early, but I stayed up until 1 reading Young's
American Minority Peoples.




July 22, 1942

I got up at 8150 today and washed up. Frank came over at 9:20
and we went over to the ad. building together. Ted Shigeno hed
arranged for us to meet with Koso and Mr. Smith to diseuss the forum.
We talked to Smith until 11:35 in the intense heat. He was an interes=
ting old guy, a man with a deep humanitarian feeling. He seemed very
much like the old American stereotype of the successful businese man--
only he had ideals. He gave us some of his notions about family life
and the Nisei in the post-war world. He was very interested in the
problem but he bored us a great deal. He is a swell guy, but his mind
wanders a great deal.

I went home for a while and then went ofer to the Jacoby's with
Frank. Keiko, Tomi, and Michi had taken over the house and were watching
Jonathan and the dogs while Mr. and lirs. J. were shopping in Klammath
Falls. Kay and Naj came in wnd we all ate salad, sandwidches and had
tea. It was one of the first decent meals we had ina long time. We
actually had table cloth again}

Dean 0'Brien came in very umexpectedly from Washington and came
in with Tom Okabe. The afternoon was hot as hell so we had iced water
end talked about various Nisei that we knew. About 3330 I went over to
the canteen and ate some food. I bought some soda, crackers, and cookies.

Tomi was late to supper and I read the Totalizer. What a paper in
comparison to the sheet here!

I went over to a rec hall in the 1800 block to the educatiomal
meeting. Most of the people were late as might have been expected.
Before the group got together I had an argument with Councilman Susuki
over cooperatives. He felt that all the coop did was take people's
money away from them and that the prices should be lowered. When I
said that if people got dividends it wouldn't make much difference
finanecially, he said, "but how do we know we are going to get dividends?
The keto might decide to keep it himsdlf." Mr. Ekeda noted that it
wae no use complaining #hd that we ought to meke the best of what the
Caucasians give us. With this the argument ended and the Caucasian
school men finally came in.

We talked about various phases of education in the center for a
couple of hours. The meeting was very enlightening. The group of
men, especially Gunderson, the gitammar school principal, seemed like
swell guys. I walked home with Frank and Sumi Shinozaki. Since Frank
. had a cold and Michi wasn't feeling well, I decided to go home. Tomi
was ironing. We were both very tired. Suddenly, there was a fire siren.
Everyone excitedly ran outside. We watched all the administration cars
streek across the firebreak. Kids execitedly ran down the street. We
were 8o tired and worn out from the heat that we just went to bed.




July 23, 1942

I got up at 11 when Keiko ceme over. I went over to the canteen
Just as it closed. On the wey home I stopped to get Framk amd Michi. -
The three girls prepared lunch--vegetable salad, french bread and butter,
spaghetti and wmeat balls. Naj end I wemt to the mees hall end got

After lunch I went over to 3001 with Frank to see the recreational
interviews. I found out that Michi was Mu Phi Epsilon and Phi Beta Kappa.
We then went over to 1908 the new recreational headquarters to get
the day of my classes changed from Monday to Tuesdayse I found out
that there were no more tables for amy of the rec. halls--even the
mess halls did not have emough tables. On the way home we stopped
at the canteen to have some Cokes. We got some soda but it was warm--

80 many people had bought soda in the heat that there was no eold
bottle left.

Ve saw a funderal in progress in the mess hall next to the canteen.
We felt like taking some observations but decided that there would be
others in the future and that thew®e was no use doing anything rash at
a time when people just don't feel well.

I went home with Frank and Michi emd we plamned togethar an

outline of procedures for the study. The afternnon was inbearably
hot==113 degrees!

After suppery I took a shower and went to class. The number of
students increased to fourteem. I came home with Kay, Keike, Tomi,
Okabe, Frank, Michi, end Naj. We ate salad and then talked about Naj
couing marriage. Frenk was in rare form in spite of his coldy, and he
ribbed Nej until he was glowing red. We all egreed te be baishakunin
end said that we would send for Khyo for him. Frank offered to sing
for his weddingy lich offered to play the pianoj I was asked as the
Holy Boy to perform the ceremony; Tad Tomita would be foreed to be the
ganitor. Naj hed a hell of a time arguing egainst 6 people=--he resorted
to all kinds of rationalizations end all kinds of generel arguments
against women. Everyone concluded thet he was delirious and that
steps must be taken to hepp him--get married. Frank kept after him
until 11:25 and Naj was really exhausted. We all laughed ®o much that
we felt sorry for Naj. Frank has a sharp head and a keen sence of
humor and he was in excellent shape tonight. Poor Naje«




July 24, 1942

I got up at 9 and wrote letters all morning. I ordered some books
from the bookstore that I needed right away.

Lunch was lousy. Ve wrote out am order to Cears for & lot of
things, including chairs and chest of drawers but could not find out
how much the freight charges were because our big city was not on
the chart.

I worked on my elass outline for a while end then went over to
the P.0. to get some envelops. I got some time cards and them headed
for the canteen where I saw Frenk and Michi. They were still thinking
about Naj .

‘upper was lousy. I changed my clothee and got out and buili e
table, book ease and & shelf. Naj came in and we telked over a pro=-
gram of study ir economic theory, sociology, and statisiics. IFrank
had agreed to teach the sociology.

July 25, 1942

I got up at 8:30 and cleaned up the mees on my desk. It is so
dirty and got that it took until 10:30 to finish. I packed some books
and mailed them to the library. On the way home from the P,0., I stopped
at the ad. bldg. and saw Naj's folks who had just coms in. I then ran
into Ted Shigeno who said he wanted tc have Deutsch spesk at the forum.
He said he had written to Mrs. Roosevelt too and I wondered if he
wasn't a little tetwhed.

At lunch we leasrned that ome of the kids who ate with us had the
measles, Apperently there was no gquaranteer at all. I talked to lr.
Obayashi, one of the Issei living with Nej, end he said he would welcome
any opportunity to participate in gracduate seminers. He never had a
chance to finish Stenford snd has been studying by himself ever since.

I was a little irked by Tomi's attitude. ©She seems to be doing
practically no work at all. CShe always wants to have fumn--just like
a little kid. We welked over to the new canteen to get soda and hangars.
It was hot as hell but I typed reports for a while; it was so hot we
worked stark naked. Sakoda droppedin and talked ebout work, wages, and
Naj.

Supper was fair. We at quite a bit and then took a shower and
headed fro the variety show. We were hailed by Michi to Okabe's birthday
party. There we met most of Frank's relatives and learned something
of his past. We had punch, cookies, and potato chips and enjoyed ourselves
immensely. Naj got a big kick when he learned that Frank used to be a
devout Christien and editor of a church paper. "Isadore" used to be hie
name .




July 26, 1942

We got up at 10 and went to the canteen. Ve stopped to see the
Miyamotos on the way. At the siore we ordered shoesy; since mjwe were
both shot and hardly worth fixing anymore. We also had the girl
figure out the freight charges on our fears order 8o that we could
send it in.

Lunech was swell, especially because all the kids we eat with
excert one were down with measles. Ve hed pie and Toml just went
around and collected them. Kay and Keiko came in with ice cream and
goda 8o we had pie a la mode with them and the Miyamoios end Vaje.
ve sll sat around end read the fumnies for e while and then we split
UpPs

I reed Frank's noiée on Bluger'e lectures at Chicago in the shade
on the east side of the house. Since Frank's thinking was so completely
dominated by Plumer's system, I found an unconscious tendency to resist
some of Blumer's ideas #ven whem they sounded plausible. I tried to
absorb the ideas emd at the same time looked assicuously for holes.

About 4330 I went over to the library to get Park and Durgess and
Lichtenberger. I rushed home just in time for a lousy suppers

T read Barnes and Becker for = while on "American Sociology" but
wae not toc impressed by the book. It has a tremendous bbbliography=--
mostly secondary stuff emd the book is too sketchy.

¥ey end Feiko came over to go to the music program. Toml was sick
but she went. The audience was much larger this time. It was pretiy
good, e went home with Framk and Michi and talked for a while.

T read Barnmes and Becker and drank some soup. We went to bed
about 12:30




July 27, 1942

I got up at 9 end went over to the P.0., On the way home I saw
Elberson. He was very enthusiastic about the coop. He sald ilhai
coops had never before begun om such a Barge scale. Usually coops
begin with small interested group s and then take oun members as the
thing grows. We started discussing some personalitles on the caup
when Jacoby suddenly rushed and and handed Elberson en article in
New Republiec to read. There was a list of nawes of the adminlisirative
personuel on a paper pinred on the magasine. Each one was supposed
to read the article and then pese it on to the person next in line,
Lpparently the Spanish consulate had kicked about the camps omn the
basis cof the article and had requested the Gtate Departwent to give
then information. The State Department had reguested the Red Cross
to make a survey of caump conditions and all adminisiralive wen were
asked to be prepared for investigation tomorrov.

Vhen I came home I found a notice from the freight company. I
went over to the warehouse and found that Dr. Thomas had sent me the
trunk and file case. Since there was no key 1o the irumk I had ‘o
leave the thing in thw warehouse since the soldlier could noti allow
me to take the thimg witout inspection for comiraband.

Lunch v as wonderful. Ve hed roast pork and absolutely no coumpeti-
tion for the food because &ll the kids were down with wmeusles.

Naj and I then worked for about half am hour em a doctor's degree
to conferr opon Frank for his birthday. Tomi had the cramps so I had
to go over to lichi's to borrow some pills. Vhen I got home a fellow
name Roy Higashi was over to ask for some help in preparing a speech
for an cratorigal contest. I hate oratory bul since he was sc sager
to learn I helped him as much as possible. We talked over general
principles of speech for a while and then discussed flelds of knowledge.
He said that he graduate high school a couple of years ago aud then
wanted to go om to college but had to drop out of school to work. He
secemed like a mice kid end he seemed eager 1o use this opportunity
while being bocked up in camp to catch up on his studied.

Tie walked over to the canteen with him and had scme ice cream
and soda. We walked over to the rec. hall and asked Ted about the
oratorieal. Apparenily nothing definite had been decided. Narry
Mayeda then rushed in with ablue face to say that the publéc address
system was not ready for the forum tonight. Waller had gonme to K.F.
to see if he can get emough partes to fix the damn thing.

Aftor supper I worked on some introduction for the forum and then
took a shower. I waes mad a6 hell about sowething. The forum was fiar
but dissappointing. Omith gave a lousy telks Koso did rather well;
and Frank talked too long. I had to admire Koseo's spunk for getting
up and speaking in English when hies command was not too good. Ve
went to Frank's and had something to eat. We then went home and
conferred the degree on Frank. Kas, Fran's brother in law was hilarious.
The group broke up and Tomi and I swatted mosquitoes for a while.




July 28, 1942

I got up at 11 when Michi dropped in with a note from Shigeno.
The day was hot as hell again. At lunech I couldn't help but notlicing
the sloppiness of the kids eating with us. I noticed thatl the old
wen were having a hell of a time eating with spoons. They couldn't
use knives and forke at all.

NaJ came in and told us of the row over food in block four.
Aprerently someone had complained amnd the Dispatch printed a letter
telling about the food in the mees hall. Everything the guy said in
the letter was ebeolutely true but the cooks didm't like it anyway.
Tenabe had come over to defend his right to print any letter he wunted
enc the cooks got mad at bim. They feld that it wae ell an internal
matter that it should not be brought tb the sttention of the keto.
Comeone wanted to beat Tanabe up but other Issei held them back
saying that it would be a disgrace to the Japanese if there were a
brawl here. Apparently that was the oddy theing that prevented Tanabe's
getting hie head bashed in. The man who caused the fow by writing the
letter was supposed to apolegize publicly this wprning in the wess
hell but he didn't show up. Apperently sll the Issei took the side
of the cook; whereas the Nisei sll felt that the complaint was jJusté-
fiede This is bery interesting when we comsider the fact that most
of the food was prepared Jepanese style and the cooks kmew nothing
about eooking American style.

I wert over to the ad. building and talked to Tom Okabe. HLe
showed me a chart of the age and sex distribution thet tue housing
men had worked out. I kmow 1ittle sbout stetistiocs, but I think those
guye krow lees then I do. They had everything arranged by date of
errival, which is very interesting tut has no significance or prac-
ticality. How could they use thoese figures? Everything would have
to be recomputed.

I went over to the warshouse and got my trumk. The soldier who
inspected the stuff was over half and hour late to duty end everyone
had to juet stand around waiting for him to come. He was very ithorough
in his invedtigation but very courteous. He remarked that there must
be a woman in the family after he had gone through part of the trumk,.
Some Nisei workers promised to haul the trunk over in a truck.

I had to go to the census office at 2115, I went over to Framk's
to look for Tomi but she apparently had gone to cash & check.s I went
to the records office but they were not ready. They said that they
wanted to see Tomi too since everyone over 18 was supposed to answer
his own questions. I went home and left a slgn on lhe door for Tomi
#ince she waen't home yet and then went back. The man who was inter-
viewing wae very disgusting. He had plenty of ideas of his own and
interpreted all the answers in the light of his shallow and stupid
ideas. When I said that I did not belong to amy religious group he
said, "cociologists are never materialisis are they? there must be
some other religion for them. Waterialism is en interesting religion
though. Naybe, I ought #o put it down." $iii! When I told him that




I had beenin grammar echool for 10 years, he refused to put it down.
"People should go to grammar school for & years and they will think
you are dumb if I put down 10 yeare." He put down my firet job as a
travelling selesmen at the top of the page end since the last jobs
were supposed to come at the ,Yop, he felt that my other jobs were not
important enough and he didn't want to erase everything anywey. He
Just ignored all other work I had done. When I complained thet the
census would not be accurate, he said, "Oh, we are not interested in
accuracys we just want to fill in thie form." That was the lest straw.
I told him he was a stupid asshole and that he was wrecking the whole
census by making it inacourate. He got mad end started arguing but
his punk mentality couldn't hold up. He finally asdmitted that he
didn't know too much about the whole thing end that he was a radio
repair man without emy educational background. Apparently he was
Shigekawa's friemd and got in by pull.

I got home hopbing mad beceuse we had intended to use the census
for our background material. Tomi wasn't home, but Keiko came in.
After some Téme Tomi came in and began to ery. Agparently E had put
on the door "Come to 4919"instead of 4119, and she had walked all
those extra blocks in the heat. She was also mad because the bank
had closed just as Bhe got to the door. She had weited in line
for almost an hour and ther the place closed when she was 2 couple
of steps away. ©OShe cried for a while and then went off to the census.

While Tomi wae gone, the trumk was delivered. I was looking
trhough the contents and was very disgusted because everything was
in a mese. Some things were missing and others were scattered throughout
the trunk. The soldier had teken things apart but he usually put them
together. The trunk had apparently been tossed around quite a bit.

Supper was 80 terrible that I just didn't eat. I went home and
made a stend for my file case. Naj got a nice letter from Kiyo and
we discussed it as we took a shower,

In speech class, the kids seemed to be imprévikg quite a bit.
I thought that the kids resented some of the criticisms, but they
wanted more. Many of the students were pro-Japan., Many felt that
democracy no longer existed here emd thet the U.S. could no longer
be trusted. "If Japen wine, we will ell be free."

I went home and looked over Higashi's sppech. ¥Xeiko, Tomi, and
Naj came in and mede some eoup. Suddenly erll the lighte in the camp
went out and we had to light a candle to drink soup. We thought for
a moment that our heater had blown out a fuse but whenwe heard the
commontion outside we knew it was much more than that. Ve all
planned Frank's birthdey tomerrow.




July 29, 1942

I got up et 10 when Koso came in to ask for some advise on speech.
Tomi got up and the two went over to the sdministretion building, while
I went over to the canteen to get a presert for Frark. Yo Bible was
available so I got enother book and & fly svatter that Keiko wanted to
give him,

Luneh wae fair but the kid with measles wze back already. Roy
Higeshi came over to discues his speech. We talked about it, about
college, ebout America democracy end the steke of minority peoples in
humanitarian ideology. We talked about the words of one of the speckers
in clase last night, "Blood is stonger than anything else."

Michi, Tomi, and Keiko were bustling eround plamming all kidds of
things. I went over to the carteen and Roy geve me some ice cream.
I took some over to Michi and Frank. We talked about the lousy nursery
shool. Frank seid that soms of the mothers were kicking and were
refusing to send their kids there, It scemed that nome of the teachers
had any training in child psychology end wers just high school graduates
who thought they knew everything about nuresry schools.

Supper was terrible again so we left without touching anything.
%e took a shower and then went over to Frank's with some pumch. Frank
was overwelmed. He was 60 absent minded that he had almost forgotten
about his birthday, and “ichi had done a good job of keeping things
quiet. Frank's mother, Mae, Kas, Keiko, Michi, Tomi, Naj, and Kay
came in. We ate and t alked. Naj brought in a two~by~four and demanded
that Frank berd over. There were msmy presents--clothes, fly-swatter,
took. The whole thing was modified by camp conditioms. Rituals like
birthdays went on tut no one could afford to spend what they used to
on presents. Most gifts were simple and practical--things that could
be used in the camp,




It was a little cooler teday. I got up at 10 and lacked over some
magazines for some articles that I might use in clase.

Lunch was feir tut didn't eat much. I spemt 4 hours cleaning up
the files and reading D.S.T.'s imstructions for the study. I sorted
the various camp papers and then read Berzun's Darwin, Marx, end Wagner.
It was getiing much cooler so we went over to the canteen. I noticed
a sign : "Only one soda to & person." So many peocple were taking boxes
end sozens of bottdes out that others could not get emy. Furthermore,
they had sold their months quota on Cokes in a few days and there were
no more to be had. I turned in my time curd and then rushed home.

Supper was lolisp-again so we went home and had some soup. In
class the speeches were much better. There were seversl expressions
of pro-Japanese sentiments from Nisei who apparently had once thought
themselves to be good Americens. One fellow saidy, "I always thought
I was en American in spite of what my paremts said to mej but thie
evacuation proves that my parents were right--race is more important
then citizemship.™ However, he ran into a barrage of criticism from
other students who were still pro-America.

I walked over to 717 to get my I.D. tag, but the line thers was

over ¢ block long so I left. I dropped im st the Miyemotos on the way
home and found Nej there. I went home after Tomi and we sll had coffee
togethers The Hisatomis came in and then Bbb Ote ceme in. He seemed
like a swell guy. Nej was disturbed. He was wondering what to do.

He got a letter from Kiyo with hints that she loved him and he asked
Michi whet love was? Humm.

I got homwe and thought of the study end gathering data for D.S.T.
I felt a little guilty when I thought about how little I had done during
the past month. It was abouttime we settled down and went to work but
the heat and the lousy food just wasn't conducive to any kind of work.

As I lyy in bed, I recalled several things that happened during
the day. In @lass one of the students tarted Jew-baitinh, It was
very interesting that this Kibei held these views. Bither he had
picked up Hitler's stuff in Japan or had gotten them through the
Japenese language prese or he had been converted to the Americam
belief about Jews. He felt the same way about Jews as certain people
in America. How stupid it was for ome racial minority to tear at
arother.

I also recalled Michi's comphdint about one Pinedale Woman--
Mae Yoshimura--vho used all kinds of tactices to get control of the
music department. She inesists that she is the best teacher around,
but Michi says she cen't play worth a darm. Her husband goes around
ﬁm‘ti&:ing hsr:! to Shirrell and Wellter. She was now threatening to
I own department since the girls
t0 hor and didn't reppect hey. Alls:h.t- ::m‘:ﬁ; g-part?nt were wise
with Ted Tomita. Those uh éd me of Naj's trouble
© know the least broadeast the most,




July 31, 1942

I had to get up &t 8 this morning because of an upset stomach.
The washroom waes being cleaned by two old mem “for the community. *
I shaved at howe with an improvised set-up because thé wash room
was still a mess and all wet,

About 8:30 I browsed around a little end-noticed #wo groups of
1ittle kids in the firebreak. They were choosing up sides to begin
their baseball geme allready. :

We went over to the centeen and bought some soda end a canves
folding chatr, I then packed some books and returned the m to the
librery. I stopped at the ad. building to see Dr. Framcis. She said
that she was please with the way the sppech class was going snd said
that it would be 0.K, for me to begin teaching race relations.

I went over io the Housing Departmert and found out that rumors that
Dre Ichihashi was in camp were true. He lived at 7307 so I walbed
over there to see him. He was sound asleep but Mrs. lchihashi wes
there and invited us over to see him some might.

I dorpped in to see Frank and he was pleased to heme that Ichi-
hashi wee in cemp. We talked about the study for a while.

Lunch was lousy. I got my mes. from D.Si?. I went over to Frank's
end we talked for hours on procddures for our research, We started
out by listing some of the obvious differences betweem the outside and
this camp. Toml then rushed in with a letter from Kiy® bluntip stating
that Bhe was in love with Naj., Michi ceme in and we discussed ways
and means of breaking the good mews to Nej. Nej seemed to be a little
afraid that she didn't like him $his dammed inferiority complex) and
this solved one of the problems.

After another lousy supper I looked over the ms and corrscted
some of it. It was full of typographical erroes and the paper as a
whole didn't seem tooo good. Iwae a little disgueted with the whole
thing end decided to rewrite the damn thing some day.

Toml left to go to Koso's clase. I stayed home end watched the
huge crowd go to the baseball game. I heard the band practicing in
316« I read Barsun and Lichtenberger for a while. The Hisatouis,
Naj end Tomi came but the H's. left. Tomi then showed him the letter
she gotl from Kiyo. There were tears in his eyes but he didn't say
muchs We all had soup together and then he went home. We stood up
reading until 12:10 when Shimbo came around to take the census. For
the first time sinece I had kmown him, he was pleasant. I guesse he
was afraid someone was going to beat him up, The damn Army decided
that the census was to be taken from midnight to 1330 a.m. Why
%ﬂ the hell didn't they say 9 or 10 o'clock? We read until 1 and

en went out to wash. We met several people in the washroom who
were still waiting to be counted.




